
 

  
 
 

1 

 

 
CABINET 
Monday, 3rd November, 2014 
 
You are invited to attend the next meeting of Cabinet, which will be held at:  
 
Council Chamber, Civic Offices, High Street, Epping 
on Monday, 3rd November, 2014 
at 7.00 pm . 
 Glen Chipp 

Chief Executive 
 

Democratic Services 
Officer 

Gary Woodhall    
The Directorate of Governance 
Tel:  01992 564470    
Email:  democraticservices@eppingforestdc.gov.uk 

 
Members: 
 
Councillors C Whitbread (Leader of the Council) (Chairman), Ms S Stavrou (Deputy Leader 
and Finance Portfolio Holder) (Vice-Chairman), R Bassett, W Breare-Hall, Mrs A Grigg, 
D Stallan, G Waller, Ms H Kane, A Lion and J Philip 
 
 

 
PLEASE NOTE THE START TIME OF THE MEETING 

 
 

 1. WEBCASTING INTRODUCTION   
 

  (a) This meeting is to be webcast;  
 
(b) Members are reminded of the need to activate their microphones before 
speaking; and  
 
(c) the Chairman will read the following announcement: 
 
“I would like to remind everyone present that this meeting will be broadcast live to 
the Internet and will be capable of subsequent repeated viewing, with copies of the 
recording being made available for those that request it. 
 
By being present at this meeting, it is likely that the recording cameras will capture 
your image and this will result in your image becoming part of the broadcast. 
 



Cabinet Monday, 3 November 2014 
 

2 

You should be aware that this may infringe your human and data protection rights. If 
you have any concerns then please speak to the Webcasting Officer. 
 
Please could I also remind Members to activate their microphones before speaking.” 
 

 2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 

  (Director of Governance) To be announced at the meeting. 
 

 3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 

  (Director of Governance) To declare interests in any item on this agenda. 
 

 4. MINUTES   
 

  To confirm the minutes of the last meeting of the Cabinet held on 6 October 2014 
(previously circulated). 
 

 5. REPORTS OF PORTFOLIO HOLDERS   
 

  To receive oral reports from Portfolio Holders on current issues concerning their 
Portfolios, which are not covered elsewhere on the agenda. 
 

 6. PUBLIC QUESTIONS   
 

  To answer questions asked by members of the public after notice in accordance with 
the motion passed by the Council at its meeting on 19 February 2013 (minute 105(iii) 
refers) on any matter in relation to which the Cabinet has powers or duties or which 
affects the District. 
 

 7. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY   
 

  (a) To consider any matters of concern to the Cabinet arising from the Council’s 
Overview and Scrutiny function. 
 
(b) To consider any matters that the Cabinet would like the Council’s Overview 
and Scrutiny function to examine as part of their work programme. 
 

 8. PROPOSED AFFORDABLE HOUSING DEVELOPMENT - VERE ROAD, 
LOUGHTON  (Pages 5 - 12) 

 
  (Housing Portfolio Holder) To consider the attached report (C-038-2014/15). 

 
 9. LEISURE AND CULTURAL STRATEGY  (Pages 13 - 66) 

 
  (Leisure & Wellbeing Portfolio Holder) To consider the attached report (C-040-

2014/15). 
 

 10. COUNCIL TAX AND LOCAL COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT COMPLIANCE  (Pages 67 
- 72) 

 
  (Finance Portfolio Holder) To consider the attached report (C-036-2014/15). 

 



Cabinet Monday, 3 November 2014 
 

3 

 11. POOLING OF NON DOMESTIC RATES  (Pages 73 - 78) 
 

  (Finance Portfolio Holder) To consider the attached report (C-037-2014/15). 
 

 12. ESSEX VOLUNTARY AND COMMUNITY SECTOR FRAMEWORK  (Pages 79 - 
96) 

 
  (Leisure & Community Services Portfolio Holder) To consider the attached report (C-

041-2014/15). 
 

 13. ANY OTHER BUSINESS   
 

  Section 100B(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 1972, together with paragraphs (6) 
and (24) of the Council Procedure Rules contained in the Constitution require that 
the permission of the Chairman be obtained, after prior notice to the Chief Executive, 
before urgent business not specified in the agenda (including a supplementary 
agenda of which the statutory period of notice has been given) may be transacted. 
 
In accordance with Operational Standing Order 6 (non-executive bodies), any item 
raised by a non-member shall require the support of a member of the Committee 
concerned and the Chairman of that Committee. Two weeks’ notice of non-urgent 
items is required. 
 

 14. EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS   
 

  Exclusion 
To consider whether, under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the public and press should be excluded from the meeting for the items of business 
set out below on grounds that they will involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in the following paragraph(s) of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the 
Act (as amended) or are confidential under Section 100(A)(2): 
 

Agenda Item No Subject Exempt Information 
Paragraph Number 

Nil Nil Nil 
 
The Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006, which came 
into effect on 1 March 2006, requires the Council to consider whether maintaining 
the exemption listed above outweighs the potential public interest in disclosing the 
information. Any member who considers that this test should be applied to any 
currently exempted matter on this agenda should contact the proper officer at least 
24 hours prior to the meeting. 
 
Confidential Items Commencement 
Paragraph 9 of the Council Procedure Rules contained in the Constitution require: 
 
(1) All business of the Council requiring to be transacted in the presence of the 

press and public to be completed by 10.00 p.m. at the latest. 
 
(2) At the time appointed under (1) above, the Chairman shall permit the 

completion of debate on any item still under consideration, and at his or her 
discretion, any other remaining business whereupon the Council shall 
proceed to exclude the public and press. 



Cabinet Monday, 3 November 2014 
 

4 

 
(3) Any public business remaining to be dealt with shall be deferred until after 

the completion of the private part of the meeting, including items submitted 
for report rather than decision. 

 
Background Papers 
Paragraph 8 of the Access to Information Procedure Rules of the Constitution define 
background papers as being documents relating to the subject matter of the report 
which in the Proper Officer's opinion: 
 
(a) disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an important part of the 

report is based;  and 
 
(b) have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the report and does not 

include published works or those which disclose exempt or confidential 
information (as defined in Rule 10) and in respect of executive reports, the 
advice of any political advisor. 

 
Inspection of background papers may be arranged by contacting the officer 
responsible for the item. 
 

 
 



Report to the Cabinet 
 
Report reference:   C-038-2014/15 
Date of meeting: 3 November 2014 

 
Portfolio: 
 

Housing 
Subject: 
 

Proposed Affordable Housing Development at Vere Road, 
Loughton 
 

Responsible Officer: 
 

Alan Hall   (01992 564004). 
Democratic Services: Gary Woodhall (01992 564470). 

 
   
Recommendations/Decisions Required: 
 
(1) That, in accordance with the Cabinet’s previous decision in principle and 
subject to the receipt of planning permission, sufficient land at the difficult-to-let 
Council-owned garage site at Garages 110-145 Vere Road – located between 34-46 
Barrington Green and 29-33 Barrington Road, Loughton - (as shown on the location 
plan attached as an Appendix) be leased to Moat Housing (one of the Council’s 
Preferred Housing Association Partners) for 999 years for the sum of £425,000 to 
develop an affordable rented housing scheme comprising 15 one and two bedroom 
flats and associated parking; 

 
(2) That the Council receives nomination rights to at least the level set out in the 
District-wide Nominations Agreement with Moat Housing; 

  
(3) That, subject to planning permission, the Council provides Moat Housing with 
a licence to construct an additional 14 car parking spaces on the remainder of the 
site, for the Council to lease at a commercial rate to the management company 
responsible for providing leasehold services for the new development being 
constructed on the adjacent site of the former Sir Winston Churchill Public House; 
and 

 
(4) That the capital receipt be shared as follows: 

 
 (a)  50% to be ring-fenced to help fund the Council’s own Housebuilding 
 Programme; and 
 
 (b)  50% to be utilised for other Council regeneration schemes. 
 
Executive Summary: 
 
This report proposes the development by Moat Housing of the Council-owned garage site 
between 34-46 Barrington Green and 29-33 Barrington Road, Loughton - which comprises 
36 difficult-to-let garages and which the Cabinet has previously agreed in principle to 
develop – to provide 15 new flats at affordable rents, which will be let to applicants on the 
Council’s Housing Register. 
 
In addition, under the Development Agreement with the developer of the adjacent site of the 

Page 5

Agenda Item 8



former Sir Winston Churchill Public House site, the Council has agreed to provide land for 
the required car parking for new development.  The proposed development on the Vere 
Road garage site will therefore also provide 14 car parking spaces that can be leased to 
residents of the development on the adjacent site, for which the Council will receive an 
annual rent. 
 
Moat Housing is able to provide the Council with a capital receipt in the sum of £425,000 for 
the provision of a 999-year lease for the land on which the affordable housing development 
will be built, due to them providing a subsidy of £885,000 for the development from its own 
resources.  
 
Since the garage site was originally acquired under Housing Act powers by the former 
Greater London Council (GLC) and is held in this Council’s Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA), the capital receipt must be used for affordable housing or regeneration purposes in 
order to avoid having to pass 50% of the capital receipt to the Government.  It is proposed 
that 50% of the capital receipt be utilised to help fund the Council’s Housebuilding 
Programme and 50% be utilised to help fund other Council regeneration schemes.  
 
Reasons for Proposed Decision: 
 
To enable the Council’s difficult-to-let garage site to be developed for affordable rented 
housing and to provide some of the required car parking for the adjacent private 
development on the site of the former Sir Winston Churchill Public House. 
 
Other Options for Action: 
 
(a) Not to develop the site, or to develop the site for an alternative use; 
(b) To delay the proposed development until such time as there is sufficient capacity and 

financial resources to develop the site as part of the Council’s own Housebuilding 
Programme; 

(c) To work with another housing association to develop the site; 
(d) To sell the land on the open market; 
(e) To lease the land for a different period, or to sell the freehold; 
(f) Not to include any car parking spaces for the adjacent private development, and 

provide additional affordable housing on the site; 
(g) To utilise 50% of resultant capital receipt for any Council purpose and pass on the 

other 50% to the Government in accordance with the Government’s pooling 
arrangements for non-Right to Buy capital receipts 

(h) To utilise the capital receipt for affordable housing and/or regeneration purposes in a 
different way to that proposed.  

 
Report: 
 
1. This report relates to the proposed development of the Council-owned garage site, 
acquired under Housing Act powers and held within the Housing Revenue Account, 
between 34-46 Barrington Green and 29-33 Barrington Road, Loughton (as shown on the 
location plan attached as an Appendix).  The site comprises 36 garages, which are difficult-
to-let.  There are currently 20 vacant garages (55%). 
 
2. The Cabinet has previously agreed an Action Plan for the development of various 
Council-owned sites around The Broadway area of Loughton, following the adoption of a 
Design and Development Brief for the area in August 2008. The agreed approach to this 
site, as approved within the agreed Action Plan, is as follows: 
  

“ (a)   Due to the high percentage of vacancies on this difficult-to-let garage 

Page 6



site, seek the redevelopment of the site for either residential accommodation or 
another purpose associated with (b) below; 
 
(b)   Hold the site in abeyance for the time being – or until the future of Site 
1 (Sir Winston Churchill PH) is known - in order to consider whether the land 
can/should be incorporated within any potential development of Site 1; and  
 
(c)   If the land is not required for incorporation within any development of 
Site 1, report to the Cabinet recommending that the site be developed for 100% 
affordable housing, either by the Council or through the sale of the site to one of 
the Council’s Preferred Housing Association Partners. “ 

 
3. At its meeting in September 2013, the Cabinet agreed Heads of Terms for a 
Development Agreement with the proposed developer of the adjacent Sir Winston Churchill 
Public House site.  The report explained that the garage site in Vere Road would be needed 
to provide some of the required car parking for the new development and that, since no 
affordable housing was proposed for the new development, the adjacent garage site in Vere 
Road could also be developed to provide affordable rented housing to compensate.  It also 
explained that the Council had been working with Moat Housing, one of the Council’s 
Preferred Housing Association Partners, to provide the affordable housing and to construct 
the required additional car parking spaces on behalf of the Council. 
 
4. Subsequently, in respect of the site of the former Sir Winston Churchill Public 
House; 
 

• Planning permission has been granted for the provision of 64 private flats; 
• The Development Agreement has been entered into with the developer; 
• The Council has entered into a new 150-year lease with the developer; and 
• Construction works have commenced, with the demolition of the public house. 

 
Proposed Provision of Affordable Housing and Additional Car Parking 
 
5. In consultation with the Director of Communities, Moat Housing has formulated a 
proposed development scheme for the garage site in Vere Road - which maximises both the 
provision of car parking on the ground floor and the resultant amount of affordable housing 
that can be provided above the car parking and the entrance to the site. 
 
6. The proposed scheme provides a total of: 
 

• 15 one and two bedroom flats to be provided at affordable rents; and 
• 29 car parking spaces, comprising: 

 
� 15 parking spaces for the new development;  and 
� 14 additional parking spaces for the Council to lease at a commercial 

rate to the management company responsible for providing leasehold 
services for the new development on the adjacent site of the former Sir 
Winston Churchill PH. 

 
7. The Council will need to enter into a licence with Moat Housing for them to construct 
the additional car parking spaces on land the Council will retain. Existing accesses to 
garages constructed by local residents, accessed across the existing garage site, have 
been retained.   
 
8. Following detailed negotiations with Moat Housing, Moat is able to provide the 

Page 7



Council with a capital receipt in the sum of £425,000 for the provision of a 999-year lease 
for the land on which the affordable housing development will be built, after allowing for the 
construction costs of both the affordable housing and all the car parking spaces, as well as 
Moat’s future management, maintenance and development loan costs for the affordable 
housing.  This high level of capital receipt for the affordable housing scheme (bearing in 
mind that the rental yield represents less than 80% of the yield obtainable from market 
rents, and the need to include the construction costs for the additional parking spaces), has 
only been possible due to Moat Housing, following negotiation, agreeing to provide a 
subsidy of £885,000 for the development from its own resources. This is subject to: 
 

• Moat obtaining approval from its Board; 
• Planning permission being obtained for the proposed number of affordable 

homes; 
• A satisfactory independent valuation; 
• The land offering “good title”; 
• Vacant possession of the site;  
• Satisfactory technical investigations; and 
• Approval being given by the Homes and Communities Agency for Moat to fund 

part of the development costs from its Recycled Capital Grants Fund (RCGF).   
 
9. In addition, the Council will receive £3,500 per annum rent for the additional 14 car 
parking spaces from the management company that will provide leasehold services for the 
new private development on the site of the former Sir Winston Churchill PH. 
 
10. The Council already has a District-wide Nominations Agreement with Moat Housing, 
which provides the Council with 100% nomination rights on initial letting and 75% for 
subsequent re-lets. Although, in any event, it is likely that the Council will have 100% 
nominations to re-lets too, the Director of Communities is in discussion with Moat Housing 
with a view to confirming that the Council receives 100% nomination rights for all re-lets as 
well.  However, any deviation from the District-wide Nominations Agreement would need to 
be agreed by Moat’s Board.    
 
Use of the Capital Receipt for the Land  
 
11. The garage site in Vere Road was originally acquired under Housing Act powers by 
the former Greater London Council (GLC), prior to the land being transferred to EFDC on its 
demise, and is held in the Housing Revenue Account (HRA). Therefore, under the 
Government’s pooling arrangements for non-Right to Buy capital receipts, although the 
Council could retain 50% of the capital receipt to use for any Council purpose, it would have 
to pass the other 50% of the capital receipt to the Government, if it is not used by the 
Council for “affordable housing or regeneration” purposes. 
 
12. For this reason, it is suggested that 50% of the capital receipt be ring-fenced to help 
fund the Council’s own Housebuilding Programme and 50% be utilised for other Council 
regeneration schemes. 
 
Resource Implications: 
 
999-year lease of Council-owned land. 
 
No budget provision required - Capital receipt of £425,000 for the Council - to be utilised to 
help fund the Council’s own new Housebuilding Programme and other regeneration 
purposes. 
 

Page 8



£3,500 per annum rent to the HRA for the additional 14 car parking spaces. 
 
Legal and Governance Implications: 
 
Local Government Act 2003. 
 
Safer, Cleaner and Greener Implications: 
 
The proposed development would improve a local eyesore and minimise the potential for 
any anti-social behaviour on the site. 
 
Consultation Undertaken: 
 
Moat has been fully consulted on the proposals, and the Cabinet has previously considered 
and agreed the principle of development. 
 
The two Ward Members, Cllr L. Girling and Cllr C. Pond, have been consulted on the 
proposals.  Their joint comments are as follows, together with the response of the Housing 
Portfolio Holder (in italics): 
 

• We broadly concur with proposals to tidy up this area in line with the Broadway plan 
approved in 2008.  

 
• We do not dissent from the idea of providing more affordable housing in the area, 

but much will depend on the design and configuration of the housing, and its effects 
on the amenity of existing residents. On this, we cannot comment until a plan 
(whether the full application or some preliminary draft) is forthcoming. (HPH 
response: The ward members will be able to make their views known on the final 
design and configuration as part of the planning process). 

 
• We think the current proposal is unacceptable without some infrastructure 

improvements, so we suggest a section 106 to enable ECC to improve the safety of 
the area where the increased traffic flow from the developments will exit from Vere 
Rd at the Willingale Rd end. This is a notoriously unsafe junction, especially at 
school times. There may also be a need to improve the junction at Vere 
Rd/Broadway and provide pedestrian crossing to connect the Broadway existing 
parade with the Sir Winston Churchill shops. There will also need to be a sizeable 
contribution for NHS and education provision, both of which are under great 
pressure in the vicinity. (HPH response:  Essex County Council Highways will be 
consulted by planning officers as part of the planning application process, and any 
highways requirements put forward by the County Council will be met.  Any financial 
contributions made for education of health purposes would also form part of the 
planning process and discussions held with planning officers and other organisations 
on required Section 106 contributions). 

 
• We have concerns about standing arrangements for buses, some routes of which 

apparently use Vere Rd as a layover point. (HPH response:  I am not aware of any 
formal bus layover arrangements in Vere Road.  The formal bus layover point for 
The Broadway is in Burton Road.  In any event, the access road to the proposed 
development is in the same location as the access road to the existing garage site.  
If buses do wait in Vere Road, the bus companies will need to ensure that they do 
not wait in a dangerous position). 

 
• We have concerns about the loss of garages and parking space which may occur 

Page 9



from this and other proposals. Implementation of a residents' parking zone for the 
whole Broadway area, including in the Broadway side of the A1168, must now be 
revisited. (HPH response:  As will be noted from the report, 55% of the garages on 
this site are vacant, and there is no waiting list.  Furthermore, the County Council’s 
Parking Standards refers to a survey undertaken by their previous highways 
contractor, Mouchel, which established that, generally, around 80% of Council 
garages are generally used for purposes other than parking a motor vehicle). 

 
Background Papers: 
 
None. 
 
Risk Management: 
 
Since the development will be undertaken by Moat Housing, the risks to the Council are 
limited.   
 
Provided that the capital receipt is used for affordable housing or regeneration purposes, 
there are no material risks arising from the proposed recommendation.  However, if the 
capital receipt was not used for affordable housing or regeneration purposes, the Council 
would lose £212,500 (50%) of the capital receipt to the Government, under its pooling 
arrangements for non-Right to Buy capital receipts. 
 
 

Page 10



 
 
Due Regard Record 

 
This page shows which groups of people are affected by the subject of this report. It sets 
out how they are affected and how any unlawful discrimination they experience can be 
eliminated.  It also includes information about how access to the service(s) subject to this 
report can be improved for the different groups of people; and how they can be assisted to 
understand each other better as a result of the subject of this report.   
 
S149 Equality Act 2010 requires that due regard must be paid to this information when 
considering the subject of this report. 
 
 
Consideration has been given to the Council’s Equality Impact Assessment for Housing 
Strategy. 
 
The accommodation will be available for housing applicants covering all the protected 
characteristic classes, although some applicants with disabilities may be unable to access 
the proposed accommodation on the first and second floors since it is not cost-effective to 
provide a lift. 
 
Applicants for the accommodation will be considered in accordance with the Council’s 
Housing Allocations Scheme, for which a separate Equality Impact Assessment was 
produced and considered by the Cabinet at the time of adoption. 
 

Page 11



 

 

Appendix 

P
age 12



Report to the Cabinet 
 
Report reference:   C-040-2014/15 
Date of meeting: 3 November 2014 

 
Portfolio: 
 

Leisure and Community Services  
Subject: 
 

Leisure and Cultural Strategy 
Responsible Officer: 
 

Derek Macnab (01992 564050). 
Democratic Services: Gary Woodhall (01992 564470). 

 
   
Recommendations/Decisions Required: 
 
(1)  That the Cabinet consider the Leisure and Cultural Strategy and comment 
accordingly; and 
 
(2)  Subject to Recommendation 1 above, that the Cabinet agree the Key 
Recommendations of the Strategy as detailed below, as the basis of the Council’s 
future role and priorities with respect to the provision of Leisure and Cultural 
opportunities: 
 
 2.1 That the key aim of the District Council with respect to the future 

provision of Leisure and Cultural activity, is to increase the number of people 
actively participating, by ensuring that provision is accessible and of the 
highest affordable quality. 

 
 2.2  That the ability of Leisure and Cultural activities to deliver across a 
 number of broader themes, such as Health and Wellbeing, Social Inclusion, 
 Regeneration, Skills and Employment, Community Safety and Economic 
 Development, is acknowledged and as such, is considered important to 
 delivering policy objectives in these areas. 
 
 2.3     That the Leisure and Cultural Strategy sets out a medium term vision of 

10 years, with a formal review after 5 years, to coincide with the length of the 
District Council’s Corporate Plan. 

 
 2.4    That the Draft Vision Statement developed by the Community Visioning 

consultation exercise of the Local Plan, steers the longer term aspirations of 
the Leisure and Cultural Strategy. 

 
 2.5  That the Council’s Leisure and Cultural Strategy takes account of 
 National and Regional Policy, which should be kept under review. 
 

2.6  That future service provision delivered by the Council maintains 
alignment to the locally relevant priorities of National/Regional grant making 
bodies, to maximise external funding opportunities. 

 
 2.7  That since the Council’s investment in purpose built leisure facilities, 
 represents the largest area of discretionary spend, future provision should be 

Page 13

Agenda Item 9



 delivered by the most cost effective means possible and that maximum Value 
 for Money is sought in terms of cost and quality. 
 
 2.8     That whilst this Leisure and Cultural Strategy focuses on the role of the 

District Council, with respect to the services it delivers directly or plays a 
significant role in enabling, the conclusions of the “Epping Forest Open Space, 
Sport and Recreation Assessment” should form part of the key deliverables 
with respect to the Local Plan. 

 
  2.9     (a)  That the conclusions of the Assessment Report with respect to 

future provision are accepted with regard to the quantative adequacy of 
Swimming Pools, Health and Fitness Facilities, Squash Courts and Synthetic 
Pitches, based on current and future demand. 

 
             (b)  That the need to provide additional sports hall provision is 

accepted and that the opportunity to meet the deficiency by working with 
Epping Forest College, is positively explored. 

 
             (c)  That it is acknowledged that the current level of provision is 

adequate with respect to catchment standards, (although age and condition of 
the Council’s facilities will need to be addressed), but that future leisure facility 
provision is kept under review, as growth scenarios develop as part of the Local 
Plan.   

 
             (d)  That provision of dual purpose spaces and facilities, where 

practically possible and affordable, are included within any development of new 
Leisure Facilities in the district, in order to accommodate arts, cultural and 
community activity. 
 

 2.10  That the current relative performance of the Council’s Leisure Facilities 
 with respect to cost, participation and subsidy, be noted and form a key 
 consideration with respect to future provision. 
 
 2.11  That subject to confirmation of the final results of the building condition 
 surveys, that Waltham Abbey Pool is deemed to have reached the end of its 
 viable life, and be replaced by a new facility in Waltham Abbey, the part of the 
 District with amongst the poorest health outcomes, with further work 
 undertaken on the most suitable location, and how it may be funded. 

 
2.12  That in the medium term, depending on growth in the locality, the 
opportunity to re-provide a replacement facility for Epping Sports Centre should 
be investigated and that any new Leisure Management Contract has appropriate 
break clauses to enable relocation. 
 
2.13  That now confirmation of funding for the new Ongar Academy has been 
confirmed, and on the basis that the site adjacent to the existing Leisure Centre 
remains the preferred location, negotiations are entered into with respect to a 
dual-use arrangement for the Leisure Centre, with the intention of increasing 
use and sharing cost. 
  

 2.14    That the Council’s Key Objectives with respect to Leisure Management 
are re-affirmed as the basis for any future management contract, with the 
preferred option being to outsource to either the private sector or external trust. 

 2.15   That the procurement approach to the new Leisure Management 

Page 14



Contract be by Competitive Dialogue, seeking to deliver flexibility for any 
partner to develop income streams to reduce costs, whilst still meeting the 
Council’s Key Objectives with respect to participation and community access. 
 

 2.16    That based on the success of other authorities, any new management 
partners are encouraged to invest in new facilities, which may involve the 
Council in providing capital finance. 
 

 2.17     (a)   That the future Community and Cultural Priorities for the Council 
are Community and Cultural Cohesion, Health Inequalities, Young People and 
Youth Unemployment, Anti-Social Behaviour, Ageing Population and Rural 
isolation. 
 
 (b)   That the potential for a further community hub development at 
Hillhouse, Waltham Abbey, be positively explored with the aim of co-locating 
community, health and wellbeing services to improve the quality of life of 
residents, in this area of health inequality. 
 
2.18  That the Council adopts the priorities of the West Essex Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy and continues to play a key role in the local delivery of 
services, which have a positive impact on addressing health inequality, 
allowing people to live a longer more active life. 

 
2.19  That the Council, whilst acknowledging the important role of the 
voluntary sector, undertakes a review of its Grant Aid Policy and Discretionary 
Rate Relief Policy for Voluntary Organisations to ensure that resources are 
used in the most efficient way possible, and that policy priorities are met. 

 
2.20  That the Council continues to support the work of “One Epping Forest” 
generally, but specifically the work of the Tourism Taskforce in delivering their 
Action Plan, given the economic and social benefits that increased visitors to 
the District can bring. 

  
Executive Summary: 
 
This report seeks the formal adoption of the Leisure and Cultural Strategy developed by the 
Portfolio Advisory Group on Leisure and Culture.  The purpose of the Strategy is to provide a 
policy focus and identify priorities for the District Council in its role in supporting the future 
provision of Leisure and Cultural opportunities, to meet the needs of residents and visitors to 
the District.  The Strategy makes a set of key recommendations, a number of which will be 
central to the procurement of the Council’s new Leisure Management Contract in 2016. 
 
Reasons for Proposed Decision: 
 
Contained within the Council’s Key Objectives for 2014, is a requirement to develop a new 
Leisure and Cultural Strategy.  This report seeks the formal consideration and adoption of the 
completed document. 
 
Other Options for Action: 
 
Not to adopt the Strategy, however, this would leave a policy vacuum with respect to the 
future delivery of the services covered by the Strategy. 
 
 

Page 15



Report: 
 
1. The District Council currently provides a range of Leisure and Cultural Services to 
include Arts, Community and Sports/Health Development as well as the District Museum 
Service.   
 
2. However, the most significant direct investment in leisure is the provision of the four 
Sports/Leisure Centres, managed under contract on the Council’s behalf, by Sport and 
Leisure Management Ltd (SLM). 
 
3. The 10 year contract with SLM is due to expire in January 2016. The Council 
therefore needed to start considering the future level of service it wishes to provide, and 
importantly, what Leisure Management procurement and contractual options it may wish to 
pursue. 
 
4. All of these considerations needed to be addressed in a strategic way.  This is 
particularly true given that there are increasing demands on the Council’s resources, resulting 
in a need to determine future priorities, alongside the changing socio-economic and 
demographic make-up of the District, with future levels of growth being determined by the 
Local Plan. 
 
5. Therefore, contained within the Council’s Key Objectives 2014/15, is a requirement to 
develop a new Leisure and Cultural Strategy.  This is in order to identify future need and the 
role that the District Council may play. 
 
6. In order to practically develop the Strategy, a Portfolio Holder Advisory Group was 
established by the then Leisure and Wellbeing Portfolio Holder. Representation was achieved 
across the District as the Portfolio Holder wanted to engage with, and seek the views of, a 
wider cross section of Members. 
 
7. From the outset, when determining the scope of the Strategy, the Portfolio Holder 
Advisory Group recognised that Leisure and Cultural activities produce considerable social 
and economic benefits to the community, as well as making a major contribution to the 
special character of the District.  This is achieved by enhancing the general quality of life and 
wellbeing of residents, promoting community cohesion and assisting regeneration and 
economic development. 
 
8. The Portfolio Holder Advisory Group, whilst acknowledging that there are numerous 
other voluntary sector clubs and organisations, as well as other private sector and public 
partners, who provide a broad spectrum of Leisure and Cultural opportunities, determined 
that the primary focus of the new Strategy should be the District Council’s role going forward 
with respect to policy and priorities.  The Strategy reflects this direction. 
 
9.    The Portfolio Holder Advisory Group met on a number of occasions and received 
presentations on the Council’s Community and Cultural Services, the Future Provision and 
Procurement Options in relation to the new Leisure Management Contract, and an insight into 
key demographic and health issues.  Site visits were also undertaken to the Council’s Leisure 
Facilities. 
 
10.     The proposed Strategy is attached as Appendix 1. The Cabinet are asked to consider 
the findings and key recommendations. 
 
Resource Implications: 
 
The provision of Leisure and Cultural is a discretionary service provided by the District 

Page 16



Council.  The total cost of the service is in the region of £3.6million per annum.  Added value 
is provided by external funding, primarily in the area of Community and Cultural Services.  
 
An indicative target of annual savings in the region of 25% (£500,000 p.a.) has been set for 
efficiencies on the new Leisure Management Contract which currently costs in the region of 
£2million per annum, although the Council may well need to invest capital in new/refurbished 
provision in order to deliver such revenue savings. 
 
Legal and Governance Implications: 
 
Local Government Act 1972 and the Community Wellbeing Act 2000 contain the relevant 
powers. 
 
Safer, Cleaner and Greener Implications: 
 
Active participation in Leisure and Cultural activities has proven to improve social cohesion 
and has an effect in the reduction of anti-social behaviour, by providing positive alternatives.  
The Council’s current stock of Leisure Facilities has poor energy performance.  An 
opportunity exists to considerably improve their efficiency through investment in new 
buildings and enhanced energy efficiency measures. 
 
Consultation Undertaken: 
 
Portfolio Holder Advisory Group.  Focus Group on the development of the Open Spaces, 
Sports and Recreation Assessment. 
 
Background Papers: 
 
Minutes of the Portfolio Holder Advisory Group 
 
Risk Management: 
 
No specific risks identified other than delay to the procurement of the new Leisure 
Management Contract, if the Strategy is not adopted. 
 

 

Page 17



Due Regard Record 
 

This page shows which groups of people are affected by the subject of this report. It 
sets out how they are affected and how any unlawful discrimination they 
experience can be eliminated.  It also includes information about how access to the 
service(s) subject to this report can be improved for the different groups of people; 
and how they can be assisted to understand each other better as a result of the 
subject of this report.   
 
S149 Equality Act 2010 requires that due regard must be paid to this information 
when considering the subject of this report. 
 
 
The Strategy recognises the role that active participation in Leisure and Culture can 
have in improving the quality of life of all residents.  However, the Strategy 
specifically recommends that Community and Cultural Cohesion, address Health 
Inequalities, support Young People, tackle Anti-Social Behaviour, combat rural 
isolation and to address the needs of our Ageing population.  The Council’s Leisure 
Facilities have weaknesses in terms of access for people with disabilities which would 
be addressed by new facilities. 
 
 

Page 18



1 
 

 
 

Page 19



2 
 

 
CONTENTS                           Page 
 
 
SECTION ONE - INTRODUCTION:      
    The purpose of the Strategy                                    1 
    How has this Strategy been developed?       1
    What is Leisure and Culture?                                   2 
    Why is a Strategy needed?    3 
 
 
SECTION TWO - THE EPPING FOREST DISTRICT NOW AND FUTURE: 
    Character of the District                                  5 
    Demographic Considerations                        5 
    Economy and Employment                           6 
    Draft Community Vision               8 
 
 
SECTION THREE - LINKS TO OTHER STRATEGIES: 
    National Policy      10 
    Regional Policy             11 
    Local Policy       12 
 
 
SECTION FOUR - PROVISION FOR LEISURE AND CULTURE: 
    Current Opportunities     16 
    Future Need       19 
 
 
SECTION FIVE - DISTRICT COUNCIL PRIORITIES AND PROVISION: 
    Leisure Facilities      27 
    Community and Cultural Services    31 
    Health and Wellbeing     32 
    Voluntary Sector and Partnership    34 
    Tourism and Visitors     35 
 
 
SECTION SIX - RECOMMENDATIONS AND ACTIONS: 
    Summary of Key Recommendations   38 
    Performance Indicators     40 
    Culture and Leisure Action Plan    40 
 
 
SECTION SEVEN - BACKGROUND PAPERS     41 

Page 20



3 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 
The Purpose of this Strategy: 
 
This document is Epping Forest District Council’s (EFDC) Leisure and Cultural 
Strategy.  Its purpose is to provide a policy focus for EFDC in its role in supporting 
the future provision of leisure and cultural opportunities, to meet the needs of 
residents and visitors to the District. 
 
The overarching aim is to increase the number and frequency of people, participating 
in leisure, cultural and community activities, by ensuring that local provision is 
accessible and of the highest affordable quality.  This is based on the rationale that if 
achieved, this will help improve health and wellbeing, raise aspiration and attainment, 
improve community cohesion and enhance the local economy. (Recommendation 1) 
 
How has this Strategy been developed: 
 
The development of the Strategy has been steered by a Portfolio Holder Advisory 
Group, led by the Council’s Leisure and Wellbeing Portfolio Holder. 
 
The Terms of Reference of the Portfolio Holder Advisory Group are as detailed 
below: 
 

• To assist in the development of a new Leisure and Cultural Strategy for the 
District; 

 
• To seek to establish priorities for the future provision of Leisure and Cultural 

Services by the Council; 
 

• To define the role that the District Council should play in addressing Leisure 
and Cultural need in the future; 

 
• To identify any emerging socio-economic and demographic factors and their 

potential impact on the future provision of Leisure and Cultural Services; 
 

• To review how the Council’s services can help meet the aspirations of the 
West Essex Health and Wellbeing Strategy; 

 
• To review the current services delivered under the existing Leisure 

Management Contract and to consider the type and level of future service 
provision to be sought, in any new contract. 

 

Page 21



4 
 

• To critically review the Sports and Leisure Centres owned by the Council, 
giving consideration to their location, age, condition, costs/subsidy and make 
recommendations on future provision/investment. 

 
The Advisory Group have met on a number of occasions and received presentations 
by a range of relevant officers engaged in the delivery of leisure and cultural 
services.  The Group have also undertaken site visits to the Council’s Leisure 
facilities. 
 
What is Leisure and Culture: 
 
There are numerous definitions of both Leisure and Culture to be found.  However, 
what is apparent is that for each of us, it can often mean different things.  For some, 
it can mean playing sport or participating in the arts, for others it can involve enjoying 
our heritage, architecture and landscape, or simply spending time with friends or 
family.  
 
Regardless of interpretation, there is a strong link between actively engaging in 
leisure and cultural activity and leading a better quality of life.  Indeed, there is 
considerable evidence to suggest that such benefits include: 
 
• Improving physical and mental health and wellbeing; 
 
• Raising aspirations and achievements; 
 
• Enhancing a sense of identity, building individual self-confidence and 

development; 
 
• Contributing to community development, cohesion, inclusion and sustainability; 
 
• Driving economic development – cultural and leisure employment, visitor 

economy, and inward investment. 
 

• Reducing crime and anti-social behaviour. 
 
Why is a Strategy needed: 
 
In common with other districts, a wide range of agencies work to develop and deliver 
leisure and cultural activities across Epping Forest. In addition to EFDC, these 
include community groups, private and voluntary sector clubs and organisations, the 
City of London Corporation, the Lea Valley Park Authority, Essex County Council, 
Town and Parish Councils, schools and colleges. 
 

Page 22



5 
 

This Strategy creates the opportunity to improve co-ordination both within EFDC and 
in the context of its work with partners.  Whilst the document will, therefore be of 
interest to anyone involved with, or who has a stake in the future provision of leisure 
and cultural opportunities, it should be stressed that the primary focus of the Strategy 
is the District Council’s role going forward, identifying the Council’s future priorities. 
 
This emphasis has been driven by the fact that the Council is currently operating in 
an environment of constrained resources, a situation which is unlikely to change in 
the foreseeable future.  The Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy requires the 
achievement of in excess of £2m of efficiency savings in the period 2015-2019.  The 
provision of leisure and cultural services is the largest area of discretionary 
expenditure that the Council incurs, of some £3.6m per annum.  (Net Expenditure 
2014/2015 – Leisure Centres £2m, Arts £30k, Museum £437k, Sports and Health 
Development £291k, Community Development £251k, Limes Farm Centre £47k, 
Grants to Voluntary Organisations £210k). Therefore, there is a clear need to ensure 
that priorities are clearly established and that services are being provided in the most 
efficient way possible.  It is also important that there are monitoring and evaluation 
processes in place, to ensure that desired policy outcomes are delivered and value 
for money is achieved. 
 
For these reasons, it has been necessary not only to adopt a strategic approach, but 
also to primarily focus on the range of Leisure and Cultural opportunities directly 
provided or actively facilitated, by the District Council.  Notwithstanding, the 
document does demonstrate the links to other strategic documents and as such, has 
not been developed in isolation.  This is because as highlighted earlier, Leisure and 
Cultural activities have the ability to deliver across a number of broader themes such 
as Health and Wellbeing, Social Inclusion, Regeneration, Skills and Employment, 
Community Safety and Economic Development.  Therefore, the relationship between 
this strategy and existing and emerging strategic documents, such as the Local Plan, 
the West Essex Wellbeing Strategy, the Local Strategic Partnership’s Tourism 
Strategy and the work that has commenced on the emerging Corporate Plan and 
new Economic Development Strategy for the District, has been considered.  
(Recommendation 2) 
 
The Period of the Strategy: 
 
In terms of the length of this Strategy, a balance has needed to be struck between 
taking a longer term view, for example, the new Local Plan will cover a 20 year 
period up until 2033, and a shorter term more pragmatic view, given the current 
uncertainty with regard to local government funding and legislative change. 
 
A review of strategic documents, produced by other local authorities, shows a typical 
range of between 5-15 years.  Given that the Council’s own Corporate Plan, set for 
renewal in April 2015, covers a five year period, it has been determined that a 

Page 23



6 
 

medium term vision of ten years (the potential length of any new Leisure 
Management Contract) with a formal five-year review, to coincide with the cycle of 
the Corporate Plan, was the most appropriate time frame for this Strategy.  
(Recommendation 3) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 24



7 
 

SECTION TWO – THE EPPING FOREST DISTRICT - NOW AND IN THE FUTURE: 
 
Character of the District: 
 
Epping Forest District Council abuts Greater London yet is dominated by open 
countryside.  Over half of the approximately 124,700 residents live in the areas of 
Loughton, Buckhurst Hill, Chigwell and Waltham Abbey, which account for only 5% of 
the area of the district.  Epping Forest is therefore, a largely rural district (over 92% 
Green belt), with individually distinct towns and villages, set in generally attractive 
countryside. 
 
The key natural feature is Epping Forest itself, which runs along the north-west 
boundary of Buckhurst Hill and Loughton to the southern end of Epping.  This part of 
the Forest (which extends south to Wanstead in London) is designated as a Special 
Area of Conservation, an acknowledgement of its international importance for nature 
conservation.  There are several other ancient woods in the district, including part of 
the remnants of Hainault Forest.  The district has a total of eight SSSis although 
some of these straddle the boundary with other authorities. There are nine Local 
Nature Reserves and over 200 Local Wildlife Sites (LoWs). 
 
Waltham Abbey, Epping and Chipping Ongar are market towns of medieval original, 
and the centres of several towns and villages, are also designated as conservation 
areas.  The district currently has over 1,300 listed buildings, 34 scheduled 
monuments, and five registered parks and gardens.  The Council has identified over 
300 locally listed buildings.  The built heritage is also therefore, very important with 
respect to the special character of the District. 
 
The development of the Central Line in the mid to late 19th century led to huge 
expansion of Buckhurst Hill and Loughton and these two settlements now comprise 
the largest urban area in the district.  The District is served uniquely in Essex by eight 
underground train stations. The M25 runs east-west almost through the middle of the 
district, with a local road interchange at Waltham Abbey.  The M11 runs north-south, 
with a full interchange at Hastingwood, just south of Harlow, and a northward-
off/southward-on interchange at Loughton. The A414 is a key east-west route in the 
county, crossing the district from Harlow to Ongar, on the way to Chelmsford and the 
Essex coast. 
 
Demographic Considerations:  
 
The district’s population has grown steadily over the last 50 years, from 108,000 
people in 1961 to almost 124,700 in 2014.  Population estimates and projections 
issued since the 2011 Census indicate that the population could potentially continue 
to rise to a total of approximately 142,900, by 2033. 
 

Page 25



8 
 

The largest proportion of the population in the district (39.4%) lives within the more 
urban areas of Loughton, Grange Hill, and Buckhurst Hill. The market towns of 
Epping, Chipping Ongar and Waltham Abbey have 29.9% and the rural areas 
(including the large villages such as North Weald, Theydon Bois and Nazeing) 
account for the remaining 30.7%. 
 
In terms of internal migration, the trend in recent years is for people to leave London 
to come to the district, and for local residents to leave the district to go to other areas.  
Within the region, the main exchange of population takes place between the district 
and other Essex districts. 
 
The district’s population is older than the average for Essex, and for England and 
Wales as a whole.  Epping Forest District has less people in the 20 to 39 age bracket 
compared to Essex.  Conversely, the district has more people within the 40 to 59 
bracket (28.6% compared to 27.4% in Essex and 26.8% in England and Wales). 
 
Projections suggest that this situation will become more pronounced in the next 20 
years, as the large, already ‘older’ population ages further, leading to a higher 
‘average age’ for the district.  It is estimated that by 2020 over 55% of the District’s 
population will be 60 years+.   
 
Life expectancy in Epping Forest District is higher than the national average, and is 
rising steadily, following the national trend.  Male life expectancy is 77.9 years, with 
female life expectancy 82.1 years, in both cases above the national averages.  
However, there is a variation of 8.8 years in life expectancy between the more 
affluent ward of Chigwell Village and some of the more deprived wards in Waltham 
Abbey. 
 
The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and Health Profiles for the District, indicate 
that 22.9% at the local adult population is classified as being obese with 17.8% of 
local children in school year six, being similarly classified. 
 
The vast majority of the population remains White British, although the percentage of 
non-White British people has risen to over 20% since the 2001 census figure of 
8.8%. 
 
The population of the district is on average fairly affluent, but there are particular 
pockets of deprivation generally in the larger towns and urban areas, e.g. Waltham 
Abbey, Loughton Broadway and Grange Hill. 
 
Economy and Employment 
 
The number of residents in full time employment is above the national average with 
2.6% of the resident population being unemployed.  However, there are currently 

Page 26



9 
 

16% of children living in poverty in the district, with their families living on 60% of the 
national median average wage.  Young people NEET (Not in Employment, Education 
or Training) is below the Essex Average, and has shown a continuing decrease in 
recent years. 
 
The most dominant sectors for employment in the district are distribution, hotels and 
restaurants, banking and finance, and the public services.  Recent growth in 
employment has been strong as the economy moves out of recession, particularly in 
the construction, transport and communication sectors.  The District’s business 
structure is dominated by micro businesses of 1 to 10 employees with a strong 
entrepreneurial spirit evident.  Although formal educational attainment levels are  
Below average, despite some high performing schools, household income levels are 
above. 
 
As might be expected due to the availability of transport links, there is a strong 
commuting pattern into London, with an estimated 65% of the working age population 
out commuting. 
 
Epping Forest in the Future 
 
Some of the trends evident in the current profile of the District, that have been 
highlighted in the previous section, will occur naturally and will be taken into account 
in meeting future leisure and cultural needs.  However, the Council’s role as Planning 
Authority will be a key determinate of future change and provision for the District. 
 
Previous Central Government regulations required every local authority to produce a 
Local Development Framework.  However, change in regulation introduced by the 
coalition government, under the National Planning Policy Framework, now mean the 
Council must prepare a full Local Plan. 
 
The Local Plan will set out the planning policies and land allocations that will guide 
development in Epping Forest District over the next 20 years.  The Local Plan will 
use the views of the local community, coupled with a robust evidence base, to 
establish a Vision for how the district will develop (to include aspirations in relation to 
Leisure and Culture), along with detailed planning policies and specific land 
allocations. 
 
There are a number of stages in the preparation of the Local Plan.  The Council has 
published its revised timetable called the Local Development Scheme, which 
anticipates going out to consultation in May 2015 on Preferred Options.  However, at 
an earlier stage in the process, a Community Visioning exercise was conducted, in 
the winter of 2010/2011. 
 

Page 27



10 
 

This district-wide public Consultation gave local people the opportunity to say how 
they would like the area to develop over the next 20 years, identifying what issues 
were important to them in terms of future life in Epping Forest.  
 
The key issues identified by the Community Visioning Consultation where:  
 

• Conservation and enhancement of the natural and historic environment, 
including landscape; 

• The need for homes and jobs in the areas; 
• The provision of retail, leisure and other commercial development; 
• The provision of infrastructure for transport, energy, telecommunications, 

waste management, water supply, waste water and flood risk management; 
• The provision of health, security, community and cultural services and other 

local facilities; and 
• Climate change mitigation and adaptation. 

 
From the key issues identified by residents, it can be seen that considerable 
importance is placed on the natural and historic environment, leisure opportunities 
and community and cultural services. 
 
Based on the key issues, a draft Vison Statement has been developed, which will 
shape the Local Plan and outline the community aspirations that the plan will be 
required to deliver. (Recommendation 4) 
  
Draft Local Plan Community Vision for Epping Forest District: 
 
“Epping Forest District residents will continue to enjoy a high quality of life where the 
built and natural heritage is highly valued and conserved.  The District will meet its 
development needs in the most sustainable locations where there is the greatest 
capacity for utilising existing infrastructure and delivering new infrastructure, least 
impact on the natural and historic environment and where the Green Belt will 
continue to serve its purposes of keeping settlements separate and retaining their 
identities.   
 
Epping Forest will be conserved and enhanced and will continue to form a key part of 
the District’s identify.  Residents will have excellent access to open and natural 
spaces including the Lea Valley Regional Park and the countryside.  Development 
will utilise the latest technology to deliver resource efficient development and ensure 
resilience to climate change.   
 
The District’s economy will retain its strong links with London whilst developing a 
more sustainable local economy which builds on its strengths and assets including 

Page 28



11 
 

tourism, aviation related industry, research and development, food production and 
the building industry.   
 
A distinctive and attractive network of towns and village centres which can be 
accessed by well serviced public transportation, walking and cycling will continue to 
be at the heart of the District’s communities. Residential development will be located 
to meet the needs of the housing market area whilst supporting economic 
development.  Towns and Villages will benefit from appropriate scale development 
that meets local need and ensures their vitality”.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 29



12 
 

SECTION THREE – LINKS TO OTHER STRATEGIES: 
 
It is important that this Strategy takes account of the current national and regional 
context for the development of culture and leisure.  Relevant policies have been 
reviewed and summarised to assess their “fit” with the Strategy proposed for Epping 
Forest.  It should be noted that national and regional policies could be subject to 
amendment over the next year, in the event of a change in Government priorities, 
post the May 2015 general election. (Recommendation 5) 
 
National Policy: 
 
Providing access to high quality leisure provision, maximising the role of culture in 
building sustainable communities and supporting the creative and cultural economy, 
are key elements of current national policy.   
 
The stated aim of the Department for Culture, Media and Sports (DCMS) is to 
“improve the quality of life for all through cultural and sporting activities, to support 
the pursuit of excellence and to champion the tourism, creative and leisure 
industries”.   
 
Levels of participation in physical activity and the resulting positive impact on the 
health and well-being of the nation, are also the focus of attention for many national 
policy documents. 
 
The National Policy statements of intent, with respect to Culture and Leisure, that are 
of direct relevance to Epping Forest, can be summarised as follows: 
 

• Supporting vibrant and sustainable arts and culture nationally and locally, by 
continuing to fund arms-length bodies like the Arts Council England, giving 
incentives to the creative industry; 

 
• Maintaining world-leading museums and galleries and supporting the wider 

museum sector by providing funding for national museums and galleries, 
providing free public access to the permanent collections of national museums 
and galleries, and funding the Arts Council England to provide support to “non-
national” museums; 
 

• Promoting the understanding and enjoyment of the historic environment 
through funding English Heritage, protecting nationally important sites and 
monuments of archaeological or historic interest, by granting them scheduled 
status; 
 
 

Page 30



13 
 

• Ensuring as many people as possible are playing sport by funding Sport 
England to help community sports grow, (including helping 14-25 year olds to 
keep playing sport through their lives), expanding the School Sports 
Programme, maintaining and improving Britain’s elite sports performance and 
building a lasting legacy from the 2012 Olympic and Paralympic Games; 
 

• Helping people to make healthier choices by providing advice on a healthy diet 
through the Change 4 Life Programme, and giving guidance on how much 
physical activity people should be undertaking; 
 

• Supporting marketing campaigns to attract visitors to the UK in the years 
following 2012, increase the proportion of UK residents who holiday in the UK, 
and broaden the tourism offer, by creating alternative attractions that match 
London. 
 

Regional Policy: 
 
There are a number of agencies who are responsible for delivering national policy on 
a regional basis, to include Arts Council England, Sports England, English Heritage 
and the Museums, Libraries and the Archives Council (which are now part of Arts 
Council England).  These regional bodies are supported in practical delivery 
initiatives, by a number of sub-regional/county wide partnerships, such as Active 
Essex, Museums East of England and Museums Essex, Essex Arts, Culture First, 
Visit Essex and with respect to Health Improvement, the County Council’s Directorate 
of Public Health and local Clinical Commissioning Groups.   
 
Whilst each of these bodies/partnerships have their own individual priorities and 
action plans, they generally sit within the policy umbrella provided by Central 
Government.  They provide a key interface with the National Lottery and other 
External Funding streams with respect to Arts, Heritage and Sports, by providing 
technical and professional input into the evaluation, award and monitoring of funded 
projects.   
 
As the Council’s Leisure Management, and in particular Community and Cultural 
Services, have an excellent track record in securing external funding and grants, to 
extend service provision (totalling over £5M in the last ten years), it will remain 
important to maintain alignment of future service delivery, to locally relevant regional 
grant making priorities. (Recommendation 6) 
 
Local Policy: 
 
This Strategy does not seek to simply replace the various existing strategies that 
influence how culture and leisure opportunities are provided in Epping Forest.  Many 
current initiatives have been developed by local partnerships such as Active Epping 

Page 31



14 
 

Forest, Epping Forest Disability Forum, Think Family (previously the Epping Forest 
Children’s Partnership), Epping Forest Youth Strategy Group, Epping Forest Health 
and Wellbeing Partnership, Visit Epping Forest and the numerous local Historical 
Societies and Conservation Groups 
 
Rather this Strategy seeks, as previously stated, to focus on the District Council’s 
role and priorities for action, whilst being complementary to the aspirations of national 
government, regional agencies and local partners. 
 
The District Council’s desired policy outcomes, with respect to direct provision and 
partnership working in Leisure and Culture, are currently contained within a number 
of strategic documents.  These are highlighted below: 
 
The Community Strategy 2010-2031 
 
One Epping Forest is the Local Strategic Partnership for the District.  The Partnership 
is made up of representatives from local councils, education, the police, health 
services, business and community groups.  Its key role is to deliver the shared vision, 
outcomes and values, enshrined in the Community Strategy, many of which can be 
practically delivered through participation in Leisure and Cultural activities. 
 
The Community Strategy is the long term overarching plan to deliver better quality of 
life and improve the economic, social and environmental well-being of the Epping 
Forest District over the next 20 years and beyond.  Based on local needs and 
residents priorities, it seeks to support ‘sustainable communities’ for the future. The 
central element of the strategy is a statement of joint ambitions, a shared vision of 
what collectively are the outcomes to be achieved, on behalf of the District’s 
communities.  This has been articulated as:   
 
“Together making Epping Forest a great place to live, work, study and do business”. 
 
It should be noted that the Council’s Community Services currently plays a major role 
in delivering on key aspects of the Community Strategy, including health and 
wellbeing, children’s and young people’s services, community cohesion and capacity 
building, in order to build sustainable communities. 
 
The Corporate Plan 2010-2015 
 
The District Council’s current Corporate Plan has identified the authority’s Medium 
Term Aims, from which the Cabinet’s Key Objectives are developed on an annual 
basis.  The Corporate Plan and Cabinet Key Objectives are an integral part of the 
Council’s Performance Management Framework, setting out corporate priorities and 
policy objectives.  These are practically delivered through Departmental Business 
Plans and supporting service strategies. 

Page 32



15 
 

The Corporate Plan Medium Term Aims 2010/11 to 2014/15 are: 
 

• Safeguard frontline services that our local residents tell us are important; 
• Have the lowest District Council Tax in Essex and maintain that position; 
• Be recognised as an innovative and top performing Council in Essex; 
• Continuously improve efficiency by adopting new ways of working with our  

partners and maximising revenue from our assets; 
• Provide clear community leadership and be a strong advocate, 

championing the interests of the people of Epping Forest and protecting 
the special character of the District. 

 
The Council is currently in the process of developing a new Corporate Plan, effective 
from April 2015. 
 
Council’s Current Service Strategies: 
 
The following section highlights a number of existing Council service strategies and 
their key aims. These are not only important in delivering desired outcomes in 
relation to the previous two high level plans, i.e. Community Strategy and Corporate 
Plan, but give an important context for the development of the new Leisure and 
Cultural Strategy.  It should be noted that for a number of these documents, the end 
date is 2015 and therefore the new Leisure and Cultural Strategy is timely, with 
respect to identifying future priorities. 

 
Sports and Health Development Strategy 2010-2015: 
 
The Council seeks to secure and develop a broad spectrum of sports, health and 
physical activity provision across the District, by providing advice, support and direct 
services and through the establishment of partnerships, collaborations and co-
operation between clubs, organisations, agencies and individuals involved in sport.  
The Council aims to co-ordinate the district’s sports, health and physical activity 
provision and to ensure a wide range of opportunities are available for people of all 
ages and abilities to take part in quality sports experiences including exercise to 
improve health and general well-being, leadership and volunteering. 
 
Epping Forest Arts Strategy 2012-2015: 
 
The Council seeks to provide a service which enables residents of all ages, abilities 
and backgrounds to access, and engage with high quality arts provision, and to 
experience the benefits that the arts can provide.  The Council will provide a 
professional and high quality arts programme that includes targeted activities and 
events for socially excluded groups, including older people in residential care, people 
with learning disabilities, people with physical disabilities, and young people with low 

Page 33



16 
 

educational attainment.  In addition, the Council will not only provide arts activities for 
all, but also advice and support to communities arts groups and artists resident in the 
District.  This will be supported by grant-aid to groups and individuals. 
 
Community Development Strategy 2010-2015 
 
The Council seeks to support the development of active, sustainable communities, 
with a particular focus on the District’s for local super output areas, namely Limes 
Farm Estate in Chigwell, Ninefields Estate in Waltham Abbey, Oakwood Hill Estate in 
Debden and Shelley Estate in Ongar.   
 
Epping Forest Play Strategy 2007-2017 
 
Produced in conjunction with the Epping Forest Play Partnership, this Strategy seeks 
to inform the future development and delivery of high quality, safe, challenging and 
suitable play facilities and opportunities. 
 
Epping Forest District Museum Service Strategy 
 
The Council seeks to celebrate the social history of the Epping Forest District, with 
an emphasis on people and the environment in which they live.  This is achieved 
through exhibitions, collections and records which are conserved.  The aim is to 
ensure that the service is accessible to everyone, and can contribute to the quality of 
life in the District. 
 
Leisure Management Strategy 
 
Epping Forest District Council’s Key Objectives with respect to the management of its 
Leisure facilities, are to increase use and activity for all residents, to provide services 
which are complimentary to and not in competition with facilities provided by others in 
the District, to improve the range of service offered, maximise external capital 
investment in the Council’s facilities and reduce revenue costs by the minimisation of 
management fees, to any external management partner. 
 
Playing Pitch Strategy 
 
The Council has mapped a way forward for the provision of pitch sports facilities in 
the District.  The Strategy gives direction and guidance to all those involved in 
providing outdoor sports facilities in Epping Forest and is also important in supporting 
applications to external bodies to increase and improve the existing stock of pitches. 
 
 
 
 

Page 34



17 
 

Voluntary Sector Grants 
 
Epping Forest District Council supports voluntary sector organisations involved in 
providing community work, culture and/or sports activities by providing financial 
assistance to enable them to deliver successful services.  Small grants are also 
made available to talented Artists and Sports people to assist their development. 
 
West Essex Health and Wellbeing Strategy (Draft) 
 
In collaboration with the West Essex Clinical Commissioning Group and the 
neighbouring authorities of Harlow and Uttlesford, the District Council seeks to 
ensure that West Essex is “A place with the highest standards of health and 
wellbeing that prioritises promoting innovation and new ways to meet growing health 
needs.  Where local communities and individuals are enabled to help themselves 
wherever possible, but with excellent services for those that cannot, provided through 
a framework of innovation and genuine partnership between all concerned local 
stakeholders”. 
 
Epping Forest Biodiversity Action Plan 
 
This action plan contains a range of targets aimed at conserving and enhancing bio-
diversity across the district in the key habitats, of woodland, farmland, urban open 
space and species rich grassland and heathland.  The plan seeks to balance 
conservation and protection of the natural environment with the promotion of active 
recreational and leisure use. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 35



18 
 

SECTION FOUR – PROVISION FOR LEISURE AND CULTURAL 
 
Current Opportunities 
 
As highlighted earlier, there are a significant number of providers and partner 
agencies in the statutory, private and voluntary sectors who currently deliver a 
diverse range of leisure and cultural opportunities.  These opportunities are located 
not only within the main urban conurbations, but also across the rural parts of the 
district, with the voluntary/community sector, in particular, playing an important role in 
many rural areas, delivering accessible leisure and cultural opportunities in areas of 
poor public transport, helping to develop community cohesion and combating 
isolation for the elderly. 
 
Performing Arts Facilities 
 
The District currently has limited provision with respect to purpose built arts rehearsal 
and performance space.  Whilst there are drama studios at a number of the 
secondary schools, Zinc Arts in Ongar and Epping Forest College, the East Fifteen 
Acting School in Debden, has the only permanent fully equipped theatre. Although 
the physical proximity of London provides opportunities for residents of the district to 
access high quality performing arts, this may be restrictive for some local people due 
to other access barriers such as cost.  However, the regional Playhouse Theatre in 
Harlow, does provide affordable access by audiences to performances, on a more 
local basis.  
 
Whilst this choice exists, there has not been pressure and demand for the provision 
of a dedicated arts facility to be directly provided by the Council.  Rather, the Council 
has adopted a policy of outreach and over many years has developed a 
comprehensive community arts programme.  An audit of current activities provided 
by the Council’s Community and Cultural Services, to include arts development 
activity, was undertaken as part of the development of this Strategy.  This illustrates 
the depth and range of Community and Cultural activity, across the District.  
 
Museums and Galleries 
 
The Council provides the Epping Forest Museum Service.  Whilst based at the 
District Museum in Sun Street, the Service also operates on an outreach basis 
through a programme of temporary exhibitions, education visits, loan boxes, lectures 
and seminars. The Council also supports the North Weald Airfield Museum through 
its grant programme and through professional support. 
 
The museum collection celebrates the social history of the District.  In 2013, the 
service was successful in securing a major Heritage Lottery Fund grant of £1.65m 
which will enable the provision of new space to significantly extend the museum’s 

Page 36



19 
 

exhibition, and on-site storage, as well as providing complete, step-free access for 
people with disabilities.  The funding additionally covers the appointment of two posts 
to develop volunteering and community engagement with museum services. The 
Council also manages the Borough of Broxbourne’s Museum Service, based at 
Lowewood Museum in Hoddesdon, through a Service Level Agreement.  The 
Museum has also been commissioned to provide a specialist resource for the 
preparation of touring exhibitions which are toured across the East Region.  This 
programme is funded by Arts Council England at a sum of £145,000. 
 
Currently there is limited community gallery and exhibition space located in the 
District.  However, with the extension of the Council’s Museum in Waltham Abbey 
and a planned new initiative at Epping Forest College, the deficit of gallery space will 
be partially addressed.  As in the case of access to performing arts venues, the 
numerous galleries in the capital and the Gibberd Gallery in Harlow Town Centre, 
assist in meeting some local requirements. 
 
Outdoor Sports Facilities 
 
The provision of facilities to play outdoor sports is met primarily by voluntary sports 
clubs and Town and Parish Councils.  There are currently 78 adult football pitches, 
26 junior football pitches, 13 mini soccer, 32 cricket pitches and 16 adult rugby 
pitches. 
 
The District Council’s role is largely one of advice and facilitation, although in recent 
years the Council has provided direct funding to develop a full-sized 3G floodlit 
artificial pitch at Town Mead, Waltham Abbey, managed in partnership with Waltham 
Abbey Town Council.  This facility met a gap in provision, complementing the other 
all-weather pitches at Debden High School, Roding Valley High School, St John’s 
Epping, Old Loughtonians and Spurs Lodge, Chigwell, the Academy in Debden, and 
Upper Clapton Rugby Club in Thornwood. 
 
Community Halls 
 
There are 43 community halls provided by local town and parish councils, voluntary 
clubs and village hall committees, equivalent to one hall per 2,907.  Whilst the 
Council directly provide a range of services from the Limes Farm Centre, Chigwell, its 
current role is again in facilitating and providing a level of capital funding for 
improvements through the Community Grants Scheme.  Access to community halls 
plays an important role in the local provision of leisure and cultural opportunities. 
 
Tourist Facilities 
 
The District Council does not play a direct role in the management of any specialist 
tourist facilities, with the exception of the District Museum which attracts visitors from 

Page 37



20 
 

outside of the area.  However, the authority has an active role in the management of 
conservation and wildlife areas through its Country care Service, which plays an 
important part of the visitor offer.  Similarly, North Weald Airfield with its event 
programme and outdoor market also attracts a significant number of visitors per 
annum.   
 
The Council does, however, appreciate the importance of tourism to the local 
economy, with visitor spend estimated at over £20m per annum in the District.   
 
As such, the Council plays an important ongoing role in the Tourism Taskforce 
established by the Local Strategic Partnership, recently funding a dedicated Tourism 
Officer post to co-ordinate and develop their work.  Their Website, Visit Epping 
Forest, has proven highly successful in increasing awareness of key visitor 
attractions such as the Ongar Epping Heritage Railway, the Royal Gunpowder Mills, 
Epping Forest and the Lea Valley Regional Park. 
 
Sports and Physical Activity 
 
Utilising Sport England Surveys (Active People), and market segment information 
from Expedia, the patterns of demand for open space, sport and recreation in the 
District have been identified.  Whilst the results primarily relate to formal sports 
activities, this also included “moderate intensity activity”, comprising non-competitive 
activities such as jogging, walking and recreational cycling, which make use of the 
open space in the District.   
 
Most current indices of participation in sport and active recreation in Epping Forest, 
are just above the median for our geographic neighbours, demographic comparator 
authorities, and regional/national averages.  However, it can be observed that 
participation in organised competitive sport is lower than the comparators, which 
suggests that provision for recreational level and informal participation is important 
locally.   
 
Levels of satisfaction are a little below the regional and national averages, which may 
imply that there is some dissatisfaction with the quality and quantity of local provision. 
The market segmentation analysis suggests that demand for swimming, golf and 
water sports, is likely to be higher than the national average, as is demand for open 
space that provides for outdoor activities. 
 
The District Council currently promotes leading an active and healthier lifestyle, 
through its Sport and Health Development Team, working with partners and 
supporting the voluntary sector.  Much of this work is funded through external funding 
secured via competitive process and over the last few years this has been in the 
region of £250,000. This is complementary to the Council’s main leisure facility 
provision.  These activities have also been audited and mapped. 

Page 38



21 
 

Leisure Centres and Swimming Pools 
 
The District is currently served by a number of providers with respect to leisure/sports 
centres and swimming pools.  The private sector has a presence ranging from small 
gym facilities to larger health and fitness clubs, operated by national companies such 
as Virgin Active and David Lloyd.  Other facilities can be accessed outside of 
curriculum use, at the 6 state funded secondary schools, comprising of primarily 
sports halls and outdoor courts, although Davenant and West Hatch Schools have 
swimming pools, which are hired to the public. 
 
In addition to these facilities, in the private and education sector, the District Council 
has four purpose built community leisure centres which are currently managed under 
contract by an external leisure management partner, SLM, up until January 2016.  
These facilities are Epping Sports Centre, Loughton Leisure Centre, Waltham Abbey 
Swimming Pool and Ongar Leisure Centre.  Combined they represent by far the 
largest area of direct leisure service provision by the Council and incur the highest 
level of discretionary expenditure by the Council.  For these reasons, the future level 
of provision and delivery is covered in some depth later in this Strategy.  An audit of 
existing provision in the District and in near neighbouring authorities has been 
undertaken and mapped to show the distribution of opportunities. 
(Recommendation 7) 
 
Future Need 
 
In April 2012, as part of the compilation of the evidence base for the Local Plan, the 
Council appointed specialist external consultants to analyse the differing needs of the 
District’s population for open space, built sports facilities and active recreation.  This 
report, the “Epping Forest Open Space, Sport and Recreation Assessment”, will not 
only inform the Local Plan, but contains detailed research on which to base this 
Leisure and Cultural Strategy.  This is with respect to evidence of current supply, 
identification of existing facilities in need of enhancement, and to plan for any new 
future facility requirements.  The scope of the study covered an extensive list of types 
of provision, including: 
 
Allotments  
Cemeteries & 
Graveyards  
Informal Recreation 
Grounds  
Children’s Playgrounds 
Woodlands and Semi-
Natural Open Spaces 
Football Pitches 
Rugby Pitches 

Cricket Pitches, 
Swimming Pools 
Synthetic Athletic 
Tracks  
Artificial Pitches 
Sports Halls  
Tennis Courts 
Squash Courts 
Golf Courses and 
Driving Ranges 

Health and Fitness 
facilities  
Indoor Sports facilities  
Equestrian facilities 
Airfields 
Shooting facilities  
Village and Community 
Halls

Page 39



22 
 

The development of the Assessment Study was supported by a stakeholder 
consultation group comprising Town and Parish Councils, Sport Essex, Essex 
Wildlife Trust, EF Youth Council, Lea Valley Regional Park Authority, City of London, 
Sport England and Natural England. 
 
Whilst the Assessment Report is therefore a key piece of evidence in the Local Plan 
process, this Leisure and Cultural Strategy focuses on the District Council’s future 
role. Therefore, there is no further analysis of provision for those types of facilities for 
which the Council makes no direct investment or indeed, does not play an 
enabling/supporting role.   
 
Other providers i.e. Town and Parish Councils, statutory partners, the private and 
voluntary sectors, can access the conclusions of the Assessment Report which is 
published on-line on the Council’s Website, under the Local Plan section.  This is not 
to say that these other providers’ services are not important in meeting future leisure 
and cultural need, but rather sit outside of the scope of this Strategy.  The Council 
will be giving due regard to the recommendations around these other types of 
provision, as part of the key deliverables in the Local Plan. (Recommendation 8) 
 
Therefore, for District Council direct and enabled services going forward, the 
following assessment of future need has been established. 
 
Community and Cultural Services 
 
The current aims and description of these services including Arts, Community, Sports 
and Health Development and the Museum Service have been outlined earlier in the 
Strategy.  It can be observed that in order to compensate for the lack of some 
specialist, particularly arts and gallery provision, and to reflect the nature and 
demography of the District, Community and Cultural Services are primarily delivered 
on an outreach basis, with an ethos of community development.  This is a cost 
effective approach which does not incur the expense of built facilities and delivers 
activities on an ongoing self sustaining basis, once the initial set up work is 
completed, building community capacity and enabling self help.   
 
Additional Value for Money is also achieved by the long-standing success of external 
funding applications which have enabled a level of participation in excess of what 
core Council funding could provide alone.  The role of the Council and its staff is, in 
this regard, to act as a facilitator and a “hub” to identify, seek access and deliver 
external funding opportunities for community and cultural services. 
 
Given the reputation and success of the Council’s current Community and Cultural 
Services, it is assessed that demand for these services will continue in future.  
However, as discretionary services, the Council will need to ensure that it is 
achieving Value for Money and that the service is targeted at those in the greatest 

Page 40



23 
 

need and likely to benefit the most. The proposed future priorities for Community and 
Cultural Services are outlined later in the Strategy. 
 
Indoor Sports Halls 
 
For the purposes of this Strategy, sports halls are defined as indoor halls with a 
minimum dimension of 33m x 17m x 7.6m, equivalent to four basketball courts.  
Currently there are 6 sports halls with community access in Epping Forest, equivalent 
to one facility per 20,833 people. 
 

Sports Hall Address Dimensions 
Epping Sports Centre Hemnall Street, Epping CM16 4LU 33m x 18m 
St John’s CoE School Bury Lane, Epping CM16 5EN 33m x 18m 
Debden Park High School Willingale Road, Loughton IG10 2BQ 33m x 18m 
Roding Valley High School Alderton Hill, Loughton IG10 3JA 33m x 17m 
Waltham Abbey Sports Centre Broomstick Hall Rd, Waltham Abbey EN9 1LF 40m x 17m 
Ongar Leisure Centre The Gables, Ongar CM5 0GA 33m x 18m 
 
In addition to the regulation sized sports halls in the district, there are a number of 
smaller halls, which, whilst unable to accommodate the full range of sports hall 
activities by virtue of their limited dimensions, nevertheless serve to supplement local 
provision: 
 

Facility Address Dimensions 
Chigwell School High Road, Chigwell IG7 6QF 25m x 18m 
Davenant Foundation School Chest Road, Loughton IG10 2LD 18m x 17m 
David Lloyd Club (Chigwell) Roding Lane, Buckhurst Hill IG9 6BJ 18m x 17m 
Guru Gobind Singh Khalsa College Roding Lane, Chigwell IG7 6BQ 25m x 18m 
 
 
Sports Hall provision in neighbouring local authorities is tabulated below.  Epping 
Forest has the second lowest per capita rate of sports hall provision and number of 
badminton courts per capita, well below the median figure for both measures. 
 
Local Authority No. Sports Halls Sports Halls per capita No. Courts per capita 

Uttlesford 6 1: 12,600 1: 3,150 
Havering 16 1: 14,756 1: 3,689 
Brentwood 8 1: 14,960 1: 2,394 
Harlow 5 1:16,340 1: 4,085 
Enfield 18 1: 16,383 1: 4096 
Waltham Forest 13 1: 17,469 1: 4,367 
Broxbourne 5 1: 18,120  1: 4,118 
Median Values 9.1 1: 18,643 1: 4,359 
East Hertfordshire 7 1: 19,586 1: 3,917 
Epping Forest 6 1: 20,833 1: 5,000 
Chelmsford 7 1: 23,971 1:5,413 
Redbridge 9 1: 30,056 1: 7,512 
 

Page 41



24 
 

Sport England recommends that for rural areas, the recommended travel time to a 
sports hall should be twenty minutes or less by car and that for urban areas up to 
twenty minutes walking time.  On this basis, taking into account facilities in 
neighbouring authorities, these criteria are largely met.  However, the Assessment 
Study did conclude that the current provision of six sports halls is inadequate with an 
assessed demand for one additional sports hall, bringing the total to seven, the 
preferred location being in the more densely populated South of the District. 
 
Indoor Swimming Pools 
 
There are five facilities, comprising a collective total of 1,713.5sq.m of water space, 
with community access in Epping Forest, equivalent to one facility per 25,000 people, 
or 13.71sq.m of water space per 1,000 people: 
 

Swimming Pool Address Dimensions 
Virgin Active Club (Chigwell) Woolston Manor, Abridge Rd, Chigwell IG7 6BX 20m x 11m 
Loughton Leisure Centre Traps Hill, Loughton IG10 1SZ 25m x 12 m 

18m x 7m 
Ongar Leisure Centre The Gables, Ongar, CM5 0GA 25m x 12.5m 
David Lloyd Club (Chigwell) Roding Lane, Buckhurst Hill IG9 8BJ 25m x 10m 

20m x 6m 
Waltham Abbey Pool Roundhills, Waltham Abbey EN9 1UP 25m x 9m 

12m x 5m 
 
In addition to the swimming pools in the district that meet the minimum 20m length 
criterion to accommodate a full range of swimming activities, there are a number of 
smaller pools, which, whilst unable to accommodate a full range of activities by virtue 
of their limited dimensions, nevertheless serve to supplement local provision: 
 

Facility Address Dimensions 
Marriott Leisure Club (WA) Old Shire Lane, Waltham Abbey EN9 3LX 15m x 6m 
Davenant Foundation School Chester Road, Loughton IG10 2LD 18m x 6m 
Woolston Manor Golf Club (Outdoor) Abridge Road, Chigwell IG7 6BX 18m x 6m 
West Hatch High School High Road, Chigwell IG7 5BT 18m x 8m 
 
The provision of swimming pools in neighbouring local authorities is tabulated below 
and shows that Epping Forest has the third highest figure for both pools and water 
space per capita, well above the median figure for both measures of provision (based 
on data from ‘Active Places’). 
 
Local Authority No. pools Pools per capita Water space Sq.m per 1000 people 
Brentwood 6 1: 12,467 1,906.0sq.m 25.48sq.m 
Broxbourne 5 1: 18,120 1,307.5sq.m 15.12sq.m 
Epping Forest 5 1: 25,000 1,713.5sq.m 13.71sq.m 
Waltham Forest 8 1: 28,388 2,796.25sq.m 12.31sq.m 
Uttlesford 3 1: 25,200 907.5sq.m 12.00sq.m 
Median values 5.5 1: 30,465 1,735.0sq.m 11.97sq.m 
Havering 9 1: 26,233 2,796.25sq.m 11.84sq.m 

Page 42



25 
 

East Herts 5 1: 27,420 1,603.5sq.m 11.70sq.m 
Enfield 8 1: 36,863 2,581.75sq.m 8.75sq.m 
Harlow 2 1: 40,850 660.0sq.m 8.08sq.m 
Chelmsford 3 1: 55,933 1,141.5sq.m 6.80sq.m 
Redbridge 7 1: 38,642 1,731.5sq.m 6.40sq.m 
 
Sport England have established a standard of provision that is utilised in establishing 
need and on which they determine capital grants. This was the case for the Sports 
Lottery Award for Loughton Leisure Centre.  On the basis that the entire population of 
the District is within 20 minute drive to their nearest pool, it can be concluded that 
quantitive need is met.  However, in terms of quality and condition, a number of 
areas of concern are highlighted in the next chapter. 
 
Squash Courts 
 
For the purpose of this Strategy, squash courts are defined as specialist courts, 
complying with dimensions specified by England Squash and Racketball.  There are 
11 courts at five locations in the district, equivalent to one court per 11,363 people. 
 

Site Address No. courts 
Epping Sports Centre Hemnall Street, Epping CM16 4LU 4 
Old Chigwellians SC Roding Lane, Chigwell IG7 6BA 1 
Ongar Squash Club Love lane, Ongar CM5 9BL 2 
Waltham Abbey Sports Centre Broomstick Hall Road, WA, EN9 1LF 2 
Metropolitan Police (Chigwell) Chigwell Hall, High Road, Chigwell IG7 6BD 2 
 
The provision of squash courts in neighbouring local authorities is tabulated below.  
The data shows that Epping Forest has a per capita rate of provision well above the 
median. 
 

Local Authority No. courts Courts per capita 
Brentwood 18 1: 4,156 
Broxbourne 13 1: 6,969 
East Hertfordshire 16 1: 7,038 
Epping Forest 11 1: 11,363 
Uttlesford 6 1: 12,600 
Harlow 6 1: 13,617 
Chelmsford 12 1: 14,125 
Median values 11.6 1: 15.231 
Enfield 18 1: 16,383 
Waltham Forest 12 1: 18,925 
Havering 9 1: 26,233 
Redbridge 6 1: 45,083 
 
As a specialist sports facility, squash court users typically travel by car to reach their 
chosen facility.  On the basis of current provision, the entire population is again within 
20 minute drive at their nearest facility.  It should be noted that the popularity of 
squash has declined over the last 10 years, as alternative means of keeping fit in the 

Page 43



26 
 

form of fitness suites and movement classes have increased.  This has led to poor 
uptake of courts particularly at non-peak times, and as such, many squash courts are 
being used to host alternative activities such as yoga, and children’s play. 
 
Health and Fitness Facilities 
 
Health and Fitness facilities for the purpose of this Strategy are deemed to comprise 
of specialist indoor area with a mixture of cardio and resistance exercise equipment 
and areas for movement classes.  There are 12 health and fitness facilities, 
collectively providing 715 stations in the district, equivalent to one facility per 10,417 
people and one station per 175 people. 
 

Site Address Stations 
Concept Fitness 224 High Street, Epping CM16 4AQ 15 
Epping Sports Centre Hemnall Street, Epping CM16 4LU 35 
Marriott Leisure Club (WA) Old Shire Lane, Waltham Abbey EN9 3LX 18 
Pro SW Gym Sterling House, Langston Road, Loughton IG10 3TS 24 
Simply Fitness Old Station Road, Loughton IG10 4PE 18 
Virgin Active Club (Chigwell) Woolston Manor, Abridge Road, Chigwell IG7 6BX 150 
Metropolitan Police  (Chigwell) Chigwell Hall, High Road, Chigwell IG7 6BD 20 
Loughton Leisure Centre Traps Hill, Loughton IG10 1SZ 90 
Waltham Abbey Pool Roundhills, Waltham Abby EN9 1UP 40 
Krunch Gym Ability House, Brooker Road, Waltham Abbey EN9 1JH 85 
David Lloyd Club (Chigwell|) Roding Lane, Buckhurst Hill IG9 6BJ 165 
Ongar Leisure Centre The Gables, Ongar CM5 0GA 55 
  
The provision of fitness facilities in neighbouring local authorities are tabulated below 
and show that Epping Forest is above the median figure for the number of facilities 
and has the second highest level of per capita provision of stations. 

 
Local Authority No. facilities Facilities per capita No. stations Stations per capita 

East Hertfordshire 14 1: 9,793 849 1: 161 
Epping Forest 12 1: 10,417 715 1: 175 
Harlow 7 1: 11,671 453 1: 180 
Uttlesford 11 1: 6,873 383 1: 197 
Chelmsford 17 1: 9,871 836 1: 201 
Brentwood 8 1: 9,350 366 1: 204 
Median value 12.4 1: 12,811 688 1: 228 
Havering 12 1: 19,675 956 1: 247 
Broxbourne 6 1: 15,100 366 2: 248 
 
By mapping the geographic location of the current health and fitness facilities in 
Epping Forest, it can be seen that the entire population is within a 15 minute drive 
time.  As such, it can be concluded that provision is adequate. 
 
 
 
 

Page 44



27 
 

Synthetic Sports Pitches 
 
Definition: For the purposes of the Strategy, synthetic sports pitches are defined as 
artificial grass playing surfaces, with dimensions of 101.4m x 64m (including run-offs) 
with sand-filled, rubber crumb or water-based pitch surface variants. There are six 
pitches with community access in the district, equivalent to one facility per 25,000 
people. 
 

Site Address Type 
Debden Park High School Willingale Road, Loughton IG10 2BQ Sand-filled 
Roding Valley High School Alderton Hill, Loughton IG10 3JA Sand-filled 
Chigwell School High Road, Chigwell IG7 6QF Sand-filled 
Old Loughtonians HC (x2) Luxborough Lane, Chigwell IG7 5AB Water-based 
Town Mead Recreation 
Ground 

Townmead, Waltham Abbey Rubber Crumb 

 
In addition to the synthetic turf pitches in the district that meet the minimum 
dimensions of 101.4 x 63m, there are a further two small facilities which serve to 
supplement local provision. 

 
Site Address Type Dimensions 

Old Loughtonians HC Luxborough Lane, Chigwell IG7 5AB Sand-filled 50m x 50m 
Upper Clapton RFC Upland Road, Thornwood Rubber Crumb 50m x 50m 

 
By mapping the location of synthetic sports pitches in Epping Forest, together with 
the 20 minute drive time catchment standard.  It shows that the entire population of 
the district is within 20 minutes’ drive of their nearest pitch, and as such provision is 
adequate.  
 
Future Provision Conclusions 
 
On the basis of the analysis provided, it can be seen that the District Council plays a 
role in the direct provision of sports halls, swimming pools, health and fitness facilities 
and synthetic pitches.  With the exception of sports halls, a picture of adequate 
access to provision is evident with the number of facilities generally above the 
median figure in comparison to neighbouring authorities and within the access 
catchment criteria established by Sport England.   
 
The exception to this is with respect to the provision of sports halls, where there is a 
deficiency of one sports hall.  An opportunity exists to fill this need in the south of the 
District, as Epping Forest College have expressed an aspiration to provide a new 
sports centre to serve both their students and the community at their site in Borders 
Lane.  The Council has previously sought a commitment from the College in the form 
of a letter of intent that they would seek to re-provide such a facility, as and when 
financial circumstances allowed, to compensate for the loss of the previous Debden 

Page 45



28 
 

Community Association Sports Centre, which was redeveloped for an older people’s 
care home.  If this was to proceed it could meet an identified strategic need. 
 
The analysis shows that the District’s current population is within a 15-20 mile drive 
time of swimming pools, health and fitness facilities and synthetic pitches.  Whilst the 
Objectivity Assessed Housing Need figure within the Local Plan is yet to be 
established, the Issues and Options consultation expressed a preference from the 
community for incremental development around existing settlements.  On this basis, 
there is therefore, given current provision serving such existing settlements, not a 
future need for more quantitive provision.  The caveat to this proposition is if any 
neighbouring authority was to close a major facility, creating a deficit for residents of 
the district on the borders.   
 
Similarly, to close an existing provision in the District, particularly a Council 
community facility would also create deficit. However, with an ageing stock of, in 
particular, sports halls and swimming pools, there is a qualitative issue that is sought 
to be addressed in the following section on Future Provision and Management of the 
Council’s Sports and Leisure Centres. (Recommendation 9) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 46



29 
 

SECTION FIVE – DISTRICT COUNCIL PRIORITIES AND PROVISION 
 
Leisure Facilities 
 
Background 
 
In 2005, as a result of a recommendation of a Best Value inspection of Leisure 
Services, and against a backdrop of increasing pressure on revenue and capital 
budgets, the Council undertook a comprehensive review of the alternative options 
available, to manage its leisure facilities.  Following this review, the Council elected 
to pursue the appointment of an external “partner” to manage and develop its major 
leisure facilities and swimming pools. 
 
By engaging an external “Partner”, the Council aimed to achieve a number of key 
Objectives: 
 

• To manage the Council’s Leisure Facilities by the most cost effective means 
possible, therefore reducing the level of revenue support necessary in the 
future; 

 
• To alleviate the financial risks to the Council and in particular to release the 

Council from the threat of VAT penalties deriving from exempt incomes; 
 

• To invest in the facilities to ensure that the internal fabric is maintained to 
current standards and that capital refurbishments and new facilities are 
provided where possible; 
 

• To ensure that high quality and diverse opportunities remain available and 
accessible to all sections of the local community, and to seek continuous 
improvement to the Service. 
 

Following a competitive procurement process, the Council awarded the contract to 
Sport and Leisure Management Limited (SLM).  The contract for Loughton Leisure 
Centre, Ongar Leisure Centre and Waltham Abbey Swimming Pool, was initially for 
seven years with an option to extend it for a further three years based on satisfactory 
performance.  This option was exercised in 2011 and involved the contractor 
submitting proposals, which were financially advantageous to the Council’s revenue 
position. 
 
In relation to Epping Sports Centre, this had originally been tendered for a period of 
three years, due to uncertainty about the position regarding the possible relocation of 
the Centre, as part of the redevelopment of a new secondary school in Epping.  
However, when the option was not pursued, the contract timescale for Epping  

Page 47



30 
 

Sports Centre was realigned with the rest of the overall contract which is currently 
due to terminate in January 2016. 
 
As is the case with the vast majority of local authority leisure provision throughout the 
country, and in particular, those councils who have an ageing stock of buildings, an 
element of subsidy is required as generally income from fees and charges does not 
cover the operating costs.  A key objective of seeking alternative management of the 
Council’s facilities had been the transfer of risk of under-achievement of income and 
the minimalisation of the level of revenue support required.  As a result, tenders were 
sought on a “deficit guarantee management fee basis”, i.e. after the contractor had 
met all their obligations regarding staffing, maintenance, and operating costs, and 
based on their estimate of income from users, which they retained, what level of 
“deficit” payment or management fee would they require. 
 
The contract with SLM commenced on 3 January 2006, and the Council’s Leisure 
Centre staff, at that time, were TUPE transferred to SLM. 
 
Shortly after the commencement of the contract, as per SLM’s tender bid, a capital 
improvement programme involving some £1.6 million of expenditure commenced.  
This resulted in a major refurbishment of both the wet and dry changing rooms at 
Ongar Leisure Centre combined with the conversion of the squash courts to provide 
a fitness suite and movement studio.  In addition, at Waltham Abbey Swimming Pool, 
the changing rooms were refurbished and reconfigured to provide internal access to 
the fitness suite and the construction of a new extension incorporating a movement 
studio.  SLM designed, specified, procured and funded the works, managing the 
building contracts directly. 
 
The Council had sought a “hybrid” contract with the intention of ensuring that the 
specification of requirements achieved a balance between protecting the Council’s 
long term interests in the buildings, and guaranteed an affordable accessible 
programme of activity to meet the needs of all sections of the community, whilst 
ensuring that any contractor had the flexibility to develop the business. SLM’s 
charitable trust status also produced financial advantages, in terms of business rate 
relief, VAT exceptions and corporate tax advantages. 
 
Financial Performance of Current Contract 
 
The current management fees paid to meet the deficit of operating the four centres 
are detailed below.  Due to the quality of the modern facilities provided by Loughton 
Leisure Centre and its premium location, it does not currently require a deficit 
payment, rather SLM pay the Council a management fee reflecting the Centre’s high 
revenue potential. 
 

Page 48



31 
 

By bringing together cost and performance considerations, it is possible to apply a 
relative ranking to the current facilities. In summary, Loughton Leisure Centre has the 
lowest management fee, the highest participation figure and the lowest subsidy per 
user.  This is in contrast to Waltham Abbey Swimming Pool which has the highest 
management fee, the second lowest participation figure and the highest subsidy per 
user. (Recommendation 10) 
 
2013-2014 Subsidies 
 Management 

Fees 
EFDC 
Costs 

Total Cost Subsidy per head 
of population 

Subsidy per 
user 

Epping Sports 
Centre 

£301,916 £46,604 £348,520 £2.81 £2.08 
Loughton 
Leisure Centre 

-£182,730 £103,700 -£79,030 -£0.64 -£0.18 
Ongar Leisure 
Centre 

£286,336 £46,044 £332,380 £2.68 £1.69 
Waltham Abbey 
Pool 

£498,278 £48,672 £546,950 £4.41 £2.66 
 £903,800 £245,020 £1,148,820 £9.27 £6.25 
 
 
Attendances 2013 – 14  
Based on SLM supplied site attendances 
Epping Sports Centre    167,603 
Loughton Leisure Centre    432,603 
Ongar Leisure Centre    197,137 
Waltham Abbey Pool    205,502 
 
Condition of Current Facilities 
 
As part of the budget process for 2014/15 the Council made provision for and has 
commissioned full building condition surveys for all centres.  A breakdown of current 
known maintenance issues and each centre’s relative strengths and weaknesses is 
attached at Background Paper 1. However, subject to formal confirmation by the 
building surveyor’s reports and based on pre-tender estimates it has been 
established that Waltham Abbey Swimming Pool has effectively reached the end of 
its viable life.  To invest the significant sums of money, estimated in excess of £1m to 
refurbish a building some 45 years old, would not make economic sense, given its 
inherent problems with layout and its current financial performance. Therefore, there 
is a need to re-provide a pool, elsewhere in Waltham Abbey. (Recommendation 11) 
 
Epping Sports Centre is a conversion of an army drill hall and whilst significant sums 
have been spent on the roof and tanking the sports hall, the building has very poor 
access for people with disabilities and has restricted car parking.  Again, the building 
does not lend itself to modern flexible use and has an awkward layout.  Despite not 
reaching the unviable position of Waltham Abbey Pool, serious consideration should 
be given to its replacement in the medium term.  A key consideration of future 

Page 49



32 
 

location will be the Local Plan and where future growth is delivered.  However, the 
Masterplanning Exercise recently submitted into the evidence base for North Weald 
Bassett and the Deloitte Report on North Weald Airfield, both suggest that future 
provision may be required. This will need to be kept under review and reflected in 
any future management contract. (Recommendation 12) 
 
Ongar Leisure Centre, whilst of a similar age to Epping Sports Centre, in part 
because of its original specification as a dual use centre with higher quality 
mechanical and electrical plant (accepting that the flat roofs may need to be 
refurbished in 5-10 years), coupled with investment by SLM of over £1m on the 
changing facilities and new fitness suite conversion, has a longer viable life than the 
other two older centres.  With the success of the bid to provide a new secondary 
school in Ongar under the “free schools” programme on the site, an opportunity 
exists to revert back to the previous dual use arrangements, which would potentially 
enable a cost sharing arrangement on repairs and running costs to be negotiated. 
(Recommendation 13) 
 
Future Leisure Management Contract Options 
 
As part of the Council’s initial decision to seek an alternative provider, extensive 
consideration has been given to the respective management options available, 
namely direct management, private sector operator, in-house trust or established 
trust.  An evaluation was undertaken of the benefits of adopting the particular 
options, and a firm conclusion was reached that outsourcing to a private sector 
partner or external trust was the preferred option in relation to the delivery of the 
Council’s Key Objectives 
 
A recent review of these options has reached the same conclusion, particularly as a 
result of recent number of visits to other authorities who have recently re-let large 
contracts, coupled with the increasing feature in the leisure contracting market of 
private sector companies being willing to invest capital or enter into joint development 
arrangements, for new or extensively extended leisure facilities, to include where 
appropriate facilities for participation in arts and cultural activities.  
(Recommendation 14) 
 
Procurement Approach 
 
There is a considerable amount of complexity in relation to the procurement of a new 
leisure management contract for the Council, particularly given the number of 
variables and unknowns in relation to the condition of buildings and future provision 
options.  Whilst it would be possible to replicate the previous approach, where the 
Council had specified its requirements in detail through the contract specification, this 
would have a limiting effect on the contractor.  The Council’s current operator has 

Page 50



33 
 

already referred to this restriction and has indicated that an alternative approach of 
competitive dialogue may be preferable.  (Recommendation 15) 
 
Competitive Dialogue was used to let the Council’s new Waste and Street Cleansing 
Contract and to date has proved to be a positive experience, allowing contractors to 
be innovative and bring forward their own ideas based on their experience on how 
services could best be delivered. Braintree District Council and Hinkley Borough 
Council have recently let their new leisure management contract by way of 
competitive dialogue, with considerable benefits in terms of reduced revenue costs 
and capital investment. (Recommendation 16) 
 
Community and Cultural Services 
 
In Sections 3 and 4 of the Strategy, the Council’s range of Community and Cultural 
Services including Arts, Community Development and Sports/Health development, 
as well as the District Museum Service, were outlined along with the aims of their 
current service strategies.   
 
It was explained that they operate on largely an outreach basis, working closely with 
other partners in the public and voluntary sector, with a good track record of 
accessing external funding.  The exception to this work has been the direct 
management of services for the Limes Farm Hall, which underwent an extensive 
refurbishment, under a project led by Community and Cultural Services.  A similar 
opportunity has been identified to provide a community hub in an area of social 
deprivation at Hillhouse, in Waltham Abbey.  
 
The management of the service, which now lies in the Council’s Communities 
Directorate, has recently been reviewed and has brought together the four teams, 
who have always undertaken work on a complementary basis, into two teams 
reflecting the synergies between the Arts and Museum Service and Sports/Health 
and Community Development. 
 
Whilst these discretionary services at the initial time of establishment, used to work 
primarily within their own particular professional discipline, delivering arts, sports, 
community and museum activities, they have over a period of years operated on a 
much more thematic basis recognising their ability to impact a wider policy objectives 
in relation to health inequalities, social inclusion, anti-social behaviour, youth 
empowerment and active ageing. 
 
As a result, a number of review workshops, future forecasting and self evaluation 
exercises, including the active engagement of Members of the Portfolio Holder 
Advisory Group for the development of this Strategy, the following priority areas for 
the future work of the Council’s Community and Cultural Services have been 
identified to be delivered through programmes of partnership work.  

Page 51



34 
 

(Recommendation 17) 
 

• Community and Cultural Cohesion 
• Health Inequality 
• Young People and Youth Unemployment 
• Anti-Social Behaviour 
• Ageing Population 
• Rural isolation. 

 
Health and Wellbeing 
 
Introduction 
 
The health and social care system, nationally and locally, is undergoing major 
structural change at a time of increasing demand.  The gap between what is needed 
to maintain services in their current configuration, and the needs of a growing and 
increasingly aged, higher need population are stretching resources at a time of 
budget constraint.  With patients’ expectations and the costs of health care, and 
infrastructure also increasing, there are significant challenges to be addressed in the 
short, medium and longer term to respond effectively. 
 
As an integral part of planning for health care in West Essex, the Clinical 
Commissioning Group and the three West Essex Local Authorities, namely Epping 
Forest, Harlow and Uttlesford District Councils, have built on their history of 
collaborative working, to formally constitute the West Essex Wellbeing Board.  This 
co-ordinating partnership has sought to clarify its future priorities through the 
development of “Better Together” the West Essex Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 
 
The strategy attempts to ensure that all stakeholders are enabled to contribute and 
play their role in meeting these challenges in a coherent and co-ordinated way.  It 
starts from the proposition that the issues and factors which generate and sustain a 
healthy and successful community are not simply within the gift of the statutory health 
services to remedy. 
 
The work to integrate Health, Social Care and District Council Services, such as 
Housing, Planning and Leisure and Culture, goes beyond simply having closer links 
between the CCG District Councils and ECC.  Resources that can have a critical 
impact on these factors exist within communities and the many services which are 
geared to support them either at a community level through publicity funded public 
services or increasingly through private sector organisations. 
 
 
 
 

Page 52



35 
 

Key Priorities 
 
The Strategy contains 5 main health and wellbeing priorities, which will be the key 
areas where action by the Council and all other partners, collectively and individually, 
will be focused for the next five years.  These are the issues where a joined up 
partnership approach will deliver the greatest added value in service delivery and will 
impact the most on delivering the vision. 
 
Three of the priorities have been set out at the level of West Essex, and two have 
been identified by the Local Partnership in each district as the areas of particular 
concern of them, and where they feel the greatest improvement can be made.  The 
sixth priority running through everything, is to drive service improvement and 
efficiency in the management of scarce resources through joined up, strategically 
focused services. 
 
These priorities will be reconfirmed on an annual basis at a West Health Stakeholder 
Conference, and will be addressed through the production and agreement of an 
Annual Delivery Plan in each area and pan West Essex.  This will also contain 
detailed targets. 
 
The agreed West Essex Priorities are: 
 

1. Divert and manage demand for publically funded health services, focusing on 
community mobilisation and collective and individual resilience. 

 
2. Establish joint critical pathways from the NHS into social care. 

 
3. Establish new innovative solutions to meeting care needs, using tele-care etc. 

 
In Epping Forest this will be complemented by the following priorities: 
 

4. Mitigating the impact to accessing services to vulnerable groups, particularly 
linking to social deprivation, age and Rural Isolation; and 

 
5. Investing in services to Young People, improving sexual health, child and 

adolescent mental health (CAMH’s) and tackling childhood obesity. 
 
These priorities have been established on the evidence of the health profiles 
produced by the County Council’s Director of Public Health and the Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment. 
 
Given that the determinants of good health are wider than simply access to primary 
care services, for example, poor housing, lack of access to services by public 
transport, poor diet and lack of exercise and social isolation, the District Council 

Page 53



36 
 

clearly has a vital role to play.  This is not only restricted to direct service delivery, but 
also in its role as Planning Authority, ensuring that access to appropriate health care 
is delivered as part of the Local Plan, commensurate with levels of growth. 
 
The District Council will continue to be actively engaged in the West Essex Wellbeing 
Board and maintain its role in delivery of the West Essex and local Epping Forest 
priorities.  These will be reviewed along with the agreed delivery plan at the annual 
stakeholder conference.  An opportunity exists for the priorities contained in the 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy to be incorporated in the service specification for any 
new leisure management contract, as the Council’s contractor could have a 
significant contribution to make, in addressing health inequalities.  
(Recommendation 18) 
 
At the local level, the Council participates in the Health Sub Group of the Local 
Strategic Partnership, a multi-agency group, co-ordinating practical local delivery 
initiatives. It is anticipated that emerging initiatives such as Social Prescriptions, will 
have positive results in addressing isolation for the elderly. 
 
Voluntary Sector and Partnership 
 
Reference has been made earlier in the Strategy to the role that the Council plays in 
supporting the voluntary sector through its Community Grants Scheme.  The Council 
are also committed to its obligations to support the voluntary sector through the Local 
Compact.  To date, the Council has retained its level of funding to the Voluntary 
Sector, despite the requirement to make substantial efficiency savings in recent 
years.   
 
This reflects the fact that many voluntary sector clubs in the area of Leisure and 
Culture are actively engaged in partnership delivery of services to the local 
community i.e. sports clubs, heritage societies etc.  However, this is becoming more 
difficult within restricted resources, and the Council has established a Task and 
Finish Panel of Councillors to review both the methodology for agreeing grant funding 
and the total amount to be provided.  The Task and Finish Panel will also consider 
the inter-relationship with discretionary rate relief given to voluntary organisations. 
(Recommendation 19) 
 
Since its inception in 2000 as part of the Community Wellbeing Act, the Council has 
played a leading role in the District’s Local Strategic Partnership “One Epping 
Forest”.  Not only has the Leader of Council chaired the Partnership for the last six 
years, demonstrating clear Community Leadership, but also the Council hosts the 
Partnership Manager. 
 
An ongoing commitment to the work of the LSP and its delivery groups i.e. Safer 
Communities, the Epping Forest Think Family Forum, Sustainable Communities and 

Page 54



37 
 

Health and Wellbeing, would help the delivery of future leisure and cultural policy 
outcomes and opportunities.   
 
The structure and role of the LSP is due to be reviewed by the Partnership in 
December 2014 and any new focus or implications will be taken on board with 
respect to this Strategy. 
 
Tourism and Visitors 
 
Tourism initiatives to attract visitors to the District, are co-ordinated through the 
Epping Forest Tourism Task Force.  The idea for a tourism taskforce emerged at the 
One Epping Forest annual stakeholder conference (2012) looking at potential areas 
for growth and economic returns to the district.  Partners, local business and tourism 
attractions felt that this was already a significant element of the local economy, and 
there were real opportunities for growth in terms of jobs and income while enhancing 
rather than despoiling the green and unique character of the area. 
 
Following discussion with representatives from the private sector and major 
attractions, a taskforce was established which met in March 2012 for the first time.  
Initial investigatory work undertaken by the Task Force revealed that – 
 

• The area already had a significant tourism and visitor economy: this 
comprised a significant percentage of local jobs and generated almost £20m 
locally. This is a much greater return than other districts in West Essex or 
nearby. The Forest alone is estimated to have 6 million visits annually. 
Investment by individual organisations in promotion is substantial and the 
district funds the Waltham Abbey Tourist Information Centre (TIC) (£15,000 pa 
and Visit Essex £1,500 pa). 

  
• Visits were mostly related to people visiting friends or relatives, daytrips rather 

than significant overnight/longer term stays.  
 

• The accommodation sector is thought to be under developed (there are no 5 
star hotels), but partners were unsure this was a significant barrier.  

 
• However, this return was generated without any local leadership, support or 

coordination. Unlike other areas with significant similar sectors, there was no 
active committee to coordinate or lead, no single promoted brand or website 
resource, no single promotional leaflet/posters, banners, presence at tourism 
fairs or exhibitions, cross ticket promotions, etc. Basically none of the 
infrastructure to support a sustained growth of such a significant element of 
the local economy was in place.  

 

Page 55



38 
 

• Returns from and engagement with Visit Essex, the current platform for driving 
visitor numbers, was poor. This site was felt to be cumbersome and focused 
on promoting the coastal areas and sites in the East of the county. The site 
originally promoted only two places to stay in the district, one of which was in 
Harlow.  

 
• The major strength of the area, its unique selling points, remain its green and 

unique nature; over 90% green belt, with two major parks, and a significant 
number of SSSI’s and nature reserves, coupled with its proximity and easy 
connections to London. The area also boasts an enviable number of key 
attractions that augment and enhance the green and unique offer, particularly 
around the historical theme, and adrenaline sports.  

 
• Many of the ‘attractions’ in and close to the district were dependent on the role 

played by volunteers (the resurgence of the Epping-Ongar railway being a 
good example of this), the wider voluntary sector and the support of 
infrastructure bodies such as Voluntary Action Epping Forest.  

 
On the basis of the above, the taskforce has developed an Action Plan to address 
these issues, the key recommendations of which are detailed below: 
 

• That a standing committee, of either One Epping Forest or Epping Forest 
District Council, under the Chairmanship of an elected member, remain in 
place to lead, coordinate, champion and promote the growth of the Tourism 
and Visitor economy locally. The Committee should also look at establishing 
sector-led groups e.g. hotels, restaurants, pubs to promote work and 
coordinate activity in their specialist areas.  

 
• Commission work on the longer term branding of the district, and assessing 

the potential to grow the sector into overnight, weekend and longer stays, 
particularly around exploring London. The key priority to be to increase 
numbers but also maximise the retention of spend in the district. 

  
• Exploratory work on the potential of growing eco/green tourism offer, and the 

development of a Hot (High Octane Triangle) Zone based on the White Water 
Centre in Waltham Abbey, Gunpowder Mills and Mountain Biking in the 
Forest, should be undertaken as a priority.  

 
• That a submission be prepared on behalf of the sector, identifying physical 

investment programmes to support the industry, in particular re-opening the 
rail connection from Ongar to Epping to a scheduled service, providing bridges 
linking the LVRPA White Water Centre, the Royal Gunpowder Mills, and 
Waltham Abbey, looking at enhanced opportunities for higher-end 
accommodation sites in the district.  

Page 56



39 
 

• Through the London Stansted Cambridge Corridor partners, and the West 
Essex Alliance, look to ensure connections are made with neighbouring areas’ 
tourism promotion, in particular developing new trails from central London 
northwards to Cambridge. The Tri-council group (Enfield, Broxbourne and 
Epping Forest) should also be approached to develop cross border working. 
More detailed bids for external funding should also be prepared for these 
groups and be included in the Integrated County Strategy, or any other 
appropriate source of funding.  

 
• Repeat Annual Tourism and Visitor Value research to chart longer term the 

health locally of the sector, and the impact of interventions. 
 

• Partners should investigate as a matter of urgency the capacity required to 
deliver these improvements.  It is clear that this report sets out an ambitious 
programme of work, but there remains a deficit in capacity in terms of staff 
time and resources to ensure the programme is delivered.  It is suggested that 
a part-time post is established to support the ongoing work of the tourism 
partnership, the remuneration and location (which organisation hosts) of the 
post to be decided by the committee.  
 

The District Council has adopted the recommendations of the Tourism Taskforce. To 
reflect the importance placed on the sectors contribution to Economic Development, 
(one of the Council’s Key Objectives), and to address the final recommendation 
around capacity, the Council has already funded a Tourism Development Officer for 
an initial one year period. (Recommendation 20) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 57



40 
 

SECTION SIX – RECOMMENDATIONS AND ACTIONS 
 
Summary of Key Recommendations 
 
1. That the key aim of the District Council with respect to the future provision of 

Leisure and Cultural activity, is to increase the number of people actively 
participating, by ensuring that provision is accessible and of the highest 
affordable quality. 

 
2. That the ability of Leisure and Cultural activities to deliver across a number of 

broader themes, such as Health and Wellbeing, Social Inclusion, 
Regeneration, Skills and Employment, Community Safety and Economic 
Development, is acknowledged and as such, is considered important to 
delivering policy objectives in these areas. 
 

3. That the Leisure and Cultural Strategy sets out a medium term vision of 10 
years, with a formal review after 5 years, to coincide with the length of the 
District Council’s Corporate Plan. 
 

4. That the Draft Vision Statement developed by the Community Visioning 
consultation exercise of the Local Plan, steers the longer term aspirations of 
the Leisure and Cultural Strategy. 
 

5. That the Council’s Leisure and Cultural Strategy takes account of National and 
Regional Policy, which should be kept under review. 
 

6. That future service provision delivered by the Council maintains alignment to 
the locally relevant priorities of National/Regional supervisory and grant 
making bodies, to maximise external funding opportunities. 
 

7. That since the Council’s investment in purpose built leisure facilities, 
represents the largest area of discretionary spend, future provision should be 
delivered by the most cost effective means possible and that maximum Value 
for Money is sought in terms of cost and quality. 
 

8. That whilst  this Leisure and Cultural Strategy focuses on the role of the 
District Council, with respect to the services it delivers directly or plays a 
significant role in enabling, the conclusions of the “Epping Forest Open Space, 
Sport and Recreation Assessment” should form part of the key deliverables 
with respect to the Local Plan. 
 

9. (a) That the conclusions of the Assessment Report with respect to future 
provision are accepted with regard to the quantative adequacy of Swimming 
Pools, Health and Fitness Facilities, Squash Courts and Synthetic Pitches, 
based on current and future demand. 
 
(b) That the need to provide additional sports hall provision is accepted and 
that the opportunity to meet the deficiency by working with Epping Forest 
College, is positively explored. 
 

Page 58



41 
 

     (c) That it is acknowledged that the current level of provision is adequate with 
respect to catchment standards, (although age and condition of the Council’s 
facilities will need to be addressed), but that future leisure facility provision is 
kept under review, as growth scenarios develop as part of the Local Plan.   
 
(d) That provision of dual purpose spaces and facilities, where practically 
possible and affordable, are included within any development of new Leisure 
Facilities in the district, in order to accommodate arts, cultural and community 
activity. 
 

10. That the current relative performance of the Council’s Leisure Facilities with 
respect to cost, participation and subsidy, be noted and form a key 
consideration with respect to future provision. 

 
11. That subject to confirmation of the final results of the building condition 

surveys, that Waltham Abbey Pool is deemed to have reached the end of its 
viable life, and be replaced by a new facility in Waltham Abbey, the part of the 
District with amongst the poorest health outcomes, with further work 
undertaken on the most suitable location, and how it may be funded. 
 

12. That in the medium term, depending on growth in the locality, the opportunity 
to re-provide a replacement facility for Epping Sports Centre should be 
investigated and that any new Leisure Management Contract has appropriate 
break clauses to enable relocation. 
 

13. That now confirmation of funding for the new Ongar Academy has been 
confirmed, and on the basis that the site adjacent to the existing Leisure 
Centre remains the preferred location, negotiations are entered into with 
respect to a dual-use arrangement for the Leisure Centre, with the intention of 
increasing use and sharing cost. 
 

14. That the Council’s Key Objectives with respect to Leisure management are re-
affirmed as the basis for any future management contract, with the preferred 
option being to outsource to either the private sector or external trust. 
 

15. That the procurement approach to the new Leisure Management Contract be 
by Competitive Dialogue, seeking to deliver flexibility for any partner to 
develop income streams to reduce costs, whilst still meeting the Council’s Key 
Objectives with respect to participation and community access. 
 

16. That based on the success of other authorities, any new management 
partners are encouraged to invest in new facilities, which may involve the 
Council in providing capital finance. 
 

17. (a)  That the future Community and Cultural Priorities for the Council are 
Community and Cultural Cohesion, Health Inequalities, Young People and 
Youth Unemployment, Anti-Social Behaviour, Ageing Population and Rural 
isolation. 
 

Page 59



42 
 

(b)  That the potential for a further community hub development at Hillhouse, 
Waltham Abbey, be positively explored with the aim of co-locating health and 
wellbeing services to improve the quality of life of residents, in this area of 
health inequality. 
 

18. That the Council adopts the priorities of the West Essex Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy and continues to play a key role in the local delivery of services, 
which have a positive impact on addressing health inequality, allowing people 
to live a longer more active life. 
 

19. That the Council, whilst acknowledging the important role of the voluntary 
sector, undertakes a review of its Grant Aid Policy and Discretionary Rate 
Relief Policy for Voluntary Organisations to ensure that resources are used in 
the most efficient way possible, and that policy priorities are met. 
 

20. That the Council continues to support the work of “One Epping Forest” 
generally, but specifically the work of the Tourism Taskforce in delivering their 
Action Plan, given the economic and social benefits that increased visitors to 
the District can bring. 
 

Performance Indicators 
 
A suite of Key Performance Indicators will be developed to monitor the delivery of the 
Strategy once the Strategy has received consideration by the Cabinet. 
 
Culture and Leisure Action Plan 
 
An Action Plan with appropriate timeframes and targets will be developed by the 
Portfolio Holder Advisory Group, to practically implement the key recommendations 
once the Strategy has received endorsement by the Cabinet. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 60



43 
 

SECTION SEVEN – BACKGROUND PAPER 
 
1. Leisure Centre, Facilities, Strengths/ Weaknesses and Maintenance Issues. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 61



44 
 

  
 
 
 

Page 62



45 
 

  
 
 
 
 

Page 63



46 
 

  
 
 

Page 64



47 
 

  

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to the Cabinet 
 
Report reference:   C-036-2014/15 
Date of meeting: 3 November 2014 

 
Portfolio: 
 

Finance  
Subject: 
 

Council Tax and Local Council Tax Support Compliance 
Responsible Officer: 
 

Janet Twinn  (01992 564215). 
Democratic Services Officer: Gary Woodhall (01992 564470). 

 
   
Recommendations/Decisions Required: 
 
(1)  The Cabinet note the progress made regarding partnership working across 
Essex to increase compliance with respect to Council Tax discounts and exemptions; 
and 
 
(2)  The Cabinet authorises the Director of Resources in consultation with the 
Finance Portfolio holder, to negotiate an agreement with other agencies and 
authorities as set out in the report, and to report back to Cabinet once the cost benefit 
of setting up the arrangements is known.  
 
Executive Summary: 
 
This report is to brief Cabinet on progress being made by the Pan Essex partnership of local 
authorities in respect of a business case to increase Council Tax discount compliance. The 
business case is an excellent example of partnership working across Essex and seeks to 
build on the success of the discounts and exemptions business case that has been in place 
since April 2013. Approval is sought from Cabinet to delegate authority for making decisions 
regarding the fine detail of the business case to the Director of Resources in consultation with 
the Finance Portfolio Holder. 
 
Reasons for Proposed Decision: 
 
The Compliance business case should generate additional income for the Council through 
increased Council Tax income. Negotiations regarding the sharing of any additional revenue 
are fast-moving and taking place in the arena of the Essex Strategic Leaders Forum, hence 
the proposal that Cabinet delegates decision-making on this matter to the Director of 
Resources who attends that forum, in consultation with the Finance Portfolio Holder. 
 
Other Options for Action: 
 
Cabinet notes progress on the compliance business case and approves or does not approve 
delegated authority to the Director of Resources to agree the sharing of financial benefits. 
 

Page 67

Agenda Item 10



Report: 
 
1. In 2012, the Benefits Managers of all the Essex District and Unitary authorities began 
to meet regularly to manage and implement the transition from the national Council Tax 
Benefit scheme to a local Tax Support scheme. The major preceptors were included in these 
meetings. From these meetings, a business case was developed whereby the Essex 
Districts, Essex County Council, Essex Police and Essex Fire Service, agreed that additional 
resources would be required by the Districts to maintain Council Tax collection levels 
following the introduction of Local Council Tax Support. The preceptors agreed to provide 
funding for the additional resource in proportion to their shares of the precept.  
 
2. The Section 151 Officers of the Districts built on this agreement by bringing in 
changes to Council Tax discounts and exemptions relating to empty homes from April 2013, 
which created additional Council Tax income. A sharing agreement was negotiated with the 
preceptors in relation to the additional income. Ordinarily, any additional Council Tax 
collected would be shared out amongst the preceptors in accordance with their share of the 
precept.  However, it was agreed that the additional income raised by altering empty home 
discounts and exemptions is to be shared out in such a way that the districts are being repaid 
an amount equivalent to 35% of the additional revenue collected in relation to these items. 
The additional resources and the income sharing agreement is a three year arrangement due 
to be re-negotiated in time for 2016/17. Year one of this arrangement has shown that the 
income for all the parties has far exceeded the investment. An additional £322,000 income 
from Council Tax has been generated for Epping Forest that would not have been achieved if 
this arrangement was not put into place. In addition, the Council Tax collection rate was 
anticipated to reduce to 96.6% but in fact 97.62% was achieved. Although this collection rate 
is a lower percentage than in 2012/13 which was before Local Council Tax Support was 
introduced, the overall amount of Council Tax collected was greater than the amount 
collected in 2012/13.   
 
3. Following the success of this initial partnership arrangement, the Benefit Managers in 
association with their Council Tax colleagues, have been preparing a business case based 
on sharing data between all Essex authorities, including Essex County Council, to identify 
discrepancies in any Council Tax discounts and exemptions that are being claimed.  
 
4. By granting Council Tax discounts in accordance with either statute or local decisions, 
precepting authorities forego income because the amount of Council Tax to be collected is 
reduced. Local Council Tax Support is a discount rather than a centrally funded national 
benefit, and this accounts for £7.1million in 2014/15. Aside from Local Council Tax Support, 
Single Person discounts are the largest single relief granted by Epping Forest totalling 
£6.5million annually. However, the Council has no discretion over the award of this discount. 
Other exemptions, such as empty properties, total £2.9million annually. Inevitably, some of 
these discounts and exemptions are claimed incorrectly or claimed for longer than they 
should have been. Any work undertaken to reduce fraud and error in this area will increase 
income from Council Tax and therefore it will directly benefit Epping Forest and the other 
preceptors, rather than central government. 
 
The Compliance Business Case  
 
5. The purpose of the compliance business case is to make sure that Single Person 
Discounts and Local Council Tax Support awards are correct and that we do not award, or 
continue to award, discounts which a person is not entitled to. The intention is that the Essex 
districts and the County share data on a regular basis to identify inconsistencies. This is the 
first joint initiative of this kind across a County area to be undertaken anywhere in the 
Country.  
 

Page 68



6. Previous small scale data matching exercises have already shown that the returns 
that will be generated greatly exceed the investment required. Currently an annual review of 
Single Person Discounts is undertaken which matches data regarding recipients of that 
discount with financial credit records. Addresses which show recent financial activity by a 
person other than the Council Taxpayer are queried and the Council Taxpayer is asked to 
confirm whether the Single Person Discount is still applicable. Tendring Council have also 
undertaken an exercise where they visited every property claiming a discount within a short 
period. Although it was resource intensive, the number of incorrectly claimed discounts within 
that short period showed that there are significant savings on discounts that can be made, 
thereby increasing the Council Tax income for the authority. 
 
7. The compliance business case developed by the Essex Benefit and Revenues 
Managers in conjunction with the preceptors is built on extending the principles of data 
matching. It proposes the regular comparison of a variety of data sets held by all the Essex 
districts, unitaries and the County Council to identify potential discrepancies in any of the 
discounts and exemptions awarded.  
 
8. Neither the Essex authorities nor the preceptors have the expertise to compare the 
datasets that will be required. The business case proposes the procurement of an outside 
company to collate the datasets and produce the results in a specified manner. This 
procurement is large enough to fall under OJEU rules and will require careful co-ordination, 
probably through the Essex Procurement Hub. 
 
9. The compliance business case requires investment from districts and preceptors to 
purchase the software and to supply additional staff resource to investigate the discrepancies 
that are identified. The return on this investment is expected to be significant. Epping Forest 
has conservatively estimated that 3% of all discounts and exemptions are being claimed 
incorrectly. This equates to c £500,000 in additional Council Tax income. The estimated 
savings across Essex are in the region of £4million per year. 
 
10. As with the sharing agreement mentioned in paragraph 2, the intention is that any 
additional Council Tax raised by implementing data sharing should be shared out in such a 
manner as to reward the Districts for the additional work that they will be carrying out, rather 
than simply passing increased receipts on to the preceptors in accordance with their shares 
of the precepts. At present, negotiations are ongoing with respect to an appropriate sharing 
arrangement. 
 
11. The business case has already received positive support from the East of England 
Local Government Association who are providing the equivalent of £20,000 in specialist 
support to assist with the development of the tender specification and procurement. In 
addition, on 6 August 2014, confirmation was received from the Department for Communities 
and Local Government (DCLG) that they wanted the partnership to submit a formal bid for 
£1.5million from the 2015/16 Transformation Challenge funding. Chelmsford is acting as the 
lead authority for the submission of this bid. The partnership has also submitted a bid for 
£850,000 from the DCLG’s Fraud Initiatives funding, for which Tendring is the lead authority. 
Both those bids are based around the compliance business case.  

 
12. The outcome of the procurement process and the amount of funding from the bid 
applications will ultimately determine whether or not this project can be delivered. Cabinet will 
be kept informed of progress. 
 
 
 
Resource Implications: 
 

Page 69



Procurement will be at OJEU level. The Director of Resources must be satisfied that the 
benefits are realistic and achievable. Additional resources will be required to check discounts 
are correctly granted and to investigate data mismatches.   
 
Legal and Governance Implications: 
 
Any contract signed with an external supplier must meet Epping Forest’s corporate 
requirements 
  
Safer, Cleaner and Greener Implications: 
 
There are no specific implications. 
 
Consultation Undertaken: 
 
Essex Strategic Leaders Forum, Finance Directors of all Essex authorities including Essex 
County Council, Essex Police and Essex Fire Service 
 
Risk Management: 
 
That the cost of procurement and associated development costs outweigh the benefits 
obtained. 
 
Background Papers: 
 
None. 
 

Page 70



Due Regard Record 
 

Name of policy or activity: 
 
 
What this record is for: By law the Council must, in the course of its service delivery 
and decision making, think about and see if it can eliminate unlawful discrimination, 
advance equality of opportunity, and foster good relations. This active consideration 
is known as, ‘paying due regard’, and it must be recorded as evidence. We pay due 
regard by undertaking equality analysis and using what we learn through this 
analysis in our service delivery and decision making. The purpose of this form is as a 
log of evidence of due regard. 
 
When do I use this record? Every time you complete equality analysis on a policy 
or activity this record must be updated. Due regard must be paid, and therefore 
equality analysis undertaken, at ‘formative stages’ of policies and activities including 
proposed changes to or withdrawal of services. This record must be included as an 
appendix to any report to decision making bodies. Agenda Planning Groups will not 
accept any report which does not include evidence of due regard being paid via 
completion of an Equality Analysis Report.  
 
How do I use this record: When you next undertake equality analysis open a Due 
Regard Record. Use it to record a summary of your analysis, including the reason for 
the analysis, the evidence considered, what the evidence told you about the 
protected groups, and the key findings from the analysis. This will be key information 
from Steps 1-7 of the Equality Analysis process set out in the Toolkit, and your 
Equality Analysis Report. This Due Regard Record is Step 8 of that process.   
 
Date  /  
Name  Summary of equality analysis  
3 
October 
2014 
Janet 
Twinn 

 
The compliance business case to ensure that Council Tax discounts and 
exemptions are correctly awarded, and the delegated authority for 
decision making regarding the fine detail of the business case to the 
Director of Resources, in consultation with the Finance Portfolio Holder, 
do not raise any equality issues at this time. The incorrect award of 
discounts and exemptions reduces the income that the Council has to 
spend on services. 
 
 
 

 

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to the Cabinet 
 
Report reference:   C-037-2014/15 
Date of meeting: 3 November 2014 

 
Portfolio: 
 

Finance  
Subject: 
 

Pooling of Non-Domestic Rates 
Responsible Officer:                      
 

Bob Palmer  (01992 564279). 
Democratic Services Officer: Gary Woodhall (01992 564470). 

 
   
Recommendations/Decisions Required: 
 
(1) To confirm the previous in principle decision to join the Essex Region Business 
Rates Pool; and 
 
(2) To delegate authority to the Director of Resources, in consultation with the 
Finance Portfolio Holder, to approve and sign the detailed pooling agreement. 
 
Executive Summary: 
 
Cabinet received reports last year on 22 July 2013 and 2 December 2013 which set out the 
potential advantages of entering into a non-domestic rates pool. Unfortunately, due to the late 
changes to the system in the Autumn Statement, several authorities decided not to pool for 
2014/15. 
 
There is another opportunity to pool for 2015/16 and it is proposed to proceed on a similar 
basis to that agreed last year. Current predictions indicate the additional business rates 
income that could be retained in Essex for 2015/16 would be approximately £3.4 million and 
that this Council could benefit by more than £100,000. 
 
The principles underlying the scheme have previously been agreed by Cabinet but the formal 
pooling agreement is still to be completed and signed.  
 
Reasons for Proposed Decision: 
 
To confirm the Council’s membership of the Essex Region Business Rates Pool for 2015/16. 
 
Other Options for Action: 
 
Members could decide not to pursue the option of pooling, although to do so would expose 
the Council to a greater degree of financial risk. 
 
Report: 
 
1. On 22 July 2013 Cabinet gave in principle agreement to joining a pool for non-
domestic rates. It was agreed that this work would be supervised by the Essex Strategic 
Leaders Finance Group and that a scheme similar to that already in existence in Suffolk 
should be pursued.  

Page 73

Agenda Item 11



 
2. The Essex Strategic Leaders Finance Group met and agreed the underlying principles 
of the scheme and an expression of interest was submitted before the 31 October deadline. 
Not all eligible authorities wanted to join and  this is summarised in the table below:  
 
Authorities joining the pool Authorities not joining the pool 

 
Braintree District Council Basildon District Council 
Castle Point District Council Brentwood Borough Council 
Chelmsford City Council Maldon District Council 
Colchester Borough Council Southend Unitary Council 
Epping Forest District Council Thurrock Unitary Council 
Essex County Council Uttlesford District Council 
Essex Fire Authority  
Harlow District Council  
Rochford District Council  
Tendring District Council  
 
3. Basildon and Thurrock councils accepted an invitation to join an alternative pool with 
two London Boroughs. Uttlesford voluntarily excluded themselves as they were concerned 
that they might be in the non-domestic rate system safety net in 2014/15. Brentwood, Maldon 
and Southend did not offer any comment or reasoning for deciding not to join the pool.  
 
4. The Chancellor’s Autumn Statement contained a number of changes to the business 
rates system which undermined the financial modelling and created more uncertainty around 
the outcomes from pooling. Given the increased uncertainty several authorities decided 
against pooling for 2014/15 and the expression of interest was withdrawn.  
 
5. One of the aspects claimed for the Suffolk scheme that came under greater scrutiny in 
constructing detailed models of an Essex scheme was the claim that members of a pool 
could not be worse off inside a pool than they would have been outside the pool. The 
modelling has shown that if all authorities in the pool suffer reductions of approximately 5% in 
their rating lists this could result in an authority being worse off. However, it should be 
stressed that this is an extreme and very unlikely scenario. It is possible that an individual 
authority may see a decline of that magnitude but for all of the pool members to see 
reductions of that size there would have to be a severe economic recession across the entire 
county. 
 
6. To provide confidence to other partners in the pool, there is a requirement that no 
authority should join if they anticipate a reduction in their rate list of 7.5% which would put 
them in the non-domestic rate safety net. All authorities were required to provide evidence on 
their current rating lists before being eligible to join the pool. It is anticipated that the 
membership of the pool for 2015/16 will be broadly similar to the proposed membership 
shown above for 2014/15. 
 
7. There was some debate about how the financial gain (or loss) from pooling should be 
split. The Districts and Boroughs felt greater weighting should be given to each authority’s 
share of business rates income whilst the County felt greater weight should be given to each 
authority’s baseline funding. A compromise position was reached with a formula that is based 
half and half on rates income and baseline funding level. One of the models of the potential 
financial outcomes assumed no overall growth in the pool. This model showed that compared 
to not pooling an additional £3.431million is retained across the pool as a whole, with this 
Council gaining approximately £136,000 of additional funding. 
 

Page 74



8. The Pooling prospectus issued by DCLG required expressions of interest to be 
submitted by 31 October but did not provide a timetable beyond that for when pools would be 
informed of the success or failure of their applications. So the Essex Pool is ready to proceed 
if approved, work is being done to update the draft 2014/15 pooling agreement. As a 
response may be required that does not fit with our calendar of meetings it is recommended 
that the original in principle decision is now confirmed and that authority to conclude the final 
agreement is delegated to the Director of Resources in consultation with the Finance  
Portfolio Holder. 
 
Resource Implications: 
 
The implications cannot be precisely quantified as they will depend on the changes in non-
domestic rates lists in the pooling authorities during 2015/16. However, based on the 
modelling it is anticipated that even with no growth in the pool this Council would be 
approximately £136,000 better off. 
 
If all authorities participating in the pool simultaneously experienced significant reductions in 
their rating lists it is possible that an authority could be worse off than if they had not pooled. 
However, this scenario is extremely unlikely to arise.  
 
Legal and Governance Implications: 
 
The Local Government Finance Act 2012 creates the ability for authorities to pool their non-
domestic rates.   
 
Safer, Cleaner and Greener Implications: 
 
There are no implications arising from the recommendations of this report in respect of the 
Council’s commitment to the Climate Local Agreement, the corporate Safer, Cleaner, 
Greener initiative, or any crime and disorder issues within the District. 
 
Consultation Undertaken: 
 
Consultation has been undertaken with all Essex authorities through the Essex Strategic 
Leaders Finance Group. 
 
Background Papers: 
 
Reports to Cabinet on 22 July 2013 and 2 December 2013 
 
Impact Assessments: 
 
Risk Management 
There is a risk that if a pool is not constructed the resources available to Essex authorities 
are not being maximised. The risk to each authority is reduced by joining with a wider 
geographical area covering a more diverse range of business activities. It is less likely that 
the whole area of the pool will suffer a reduction in rating lists than any one authority standing 
alone. 
 
 

 

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



Due Regard Record 
 

Name of policy or activity: Pooling of Non-Domestic Rates 
 
 
What this record is for: By law the Council must, in the course of its service delivery and decision 
making, think about and see if it can eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of 
opportunity, and foster good relations. This active consideration is known as, ‘paying due regard’, 
and it must be recorded as evidence. We pay due regard by undertaking equality analysis and 
using what we learn through this analysis in our service delivery and decision making. The 
purpose of this form is as a log of evidence of due regard. 
 

When do I use this record? Every time you complete equality analysis on a policy or activity this 
record must be updated. Due regard must be paid, and therefore equality analysis undertaken, at 
‘formative stages’ of policies and activities including proposed changes to or withdrawal of 
services. This record must be included as an appendix to any report to decision making bodies. 
Agenda Planning Groups will not accept any report which does not include evidence of due 
regard being paid via completion of an Equality Analysis Report.  
 

How do I use this record: When you next undertake equality analysis open a Due Regard Record. 
Use it to record a summary of your analysis, including the reason for the analysis, the evidence 
considered, what the evidence told you about the protected groups, and the key findings from 
the analysis. This will be key information from Steps 1-7 of the Equality Analysis process set out in 
the Toolkit, and your Equality Analysis Report. This Due Regard Record is Step 8 of that process.   
 
Date  /  
Name  Summary of equality analysis  
3/11/14 
 
Director 
of 
Resources 

This policy is intended to increase the resources available to the Council through 
joining with other Essex Authorities in a pool for non-domestic rates. Whilst the 
policy is aimed at increasing overall resources it does not deal with the use of those 
resources and so has no equalities implications. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to the Cabinet 
 
Report reference:   C-041-2014/15 
Date of meeting: 3 November 2014  

 
Portfolio: 
 

Leisure and Community Services  
 

Subject: 
 

Essex Voluntary and Community Sector Framework 
Responsible Officer:     
 

Chris Overend           (01992 564247). 
Democratic Services: Gary Woodhall (01992 564470). 

 
   
Recommendations/Decisions Required: 
 
(1)  That the District Council formally sign up to the Essex Voluntary and 
Community Sector Framework. 
 
Executive Summary  
 
The Essex Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS) Framework represents a new approach for 
public sector partners in their relationship with the VCS.  It sets some expectations that the public 
and voluntary sectors can have of each other and how they can work together to achieve the 
vision of ‘strong and resilient communities supported by a thriving voluntary and community 
sector’.  It is sponsored by the Essex Compact Steering Group which is responsible for 
implementing the Essex Compact, the written understanding between the various partners about 
how they will cooperate.  A copy of the full framework document is attached as an appendix to 
this report. 
 
Reasons for Proposed Decision: 
 
At a time when funding for all public bodies is reducing, the need for resilient communities that 
can support themselves and the need for radical innovation in service design and delivery has 
never been greater.  The sector already supports communities in areas as diverse as health and 
social care, the environment, sports and the arts and is an essential component of a strong and 
vibrant society.      

 
 Other Options for Action: 
 
Other options are to approve the Framework subject to amendment or reject the Framework.    
 
Report: 
 
1. Essex partners (in both the public sector and the VCS) have worked together to 
develop a framework that supports effective working between the public sector and VCS 
organisations.  It builds on the work of the Essex Compact but aims to go further in setting 
out a number of actions that will help achievement of the shared aim of strong, resilient 
communities supported by a thriving VCS. 
 
2. In signing up to the Framework, public bodies would be committing to develop their 
own organisational strategies and policies to meet its requirements.  The Framework includes 

Page 79

Agenda Item 12



the following headings and expectations of public bodies: 
• That they will respect the independence of the VCS sector; 
• That they have a clear approach to commissioning and how the VCS can engage; 
• That they aim to ensure a ‘level playing field’ for VCS organisations in their 

procurement processes; 
• That they are clear about their joint commissioning arrangements and seek to 

collaborate with other public bodies where possible; 
•  That they have a clear and transparent approach to grant funding; 
• That they are clear about how they will implement the requirements of The Public 

Services (Social Value) Act 2012; 
• That they have a single point of contact for each policy area and each procurement 

process; 
• That they consider how they can support and strengthen the VCS and encourage 

tenderers to employ local residents, use local volunteers and develop sustainable 
partnerships with local VCS organisations; and 

• That they have a clear approach to the promotion of volunteering. 
 
Resource Implications: 
 
There are no budgetary implications although signing up to the Framework involves 
commitment to a set of principles of which funding forms part.   The Framework is concerned 
with the transparency of process rather than the allocation of funding.   
 
Legal and Governance Implications: 
 
Local Government Act 1972 Section 137.  The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012  
  
Safer, Cleaner and Greener Implications: 
 
There are no specific implications in terms of Crime and Disorder or Environmental issues. 
 
Consultation Undertaken: 
 
Internal discussions involving Members and officers.   
 
Background Papers: 
 
No specific background papers. 
 
Risk Management: 
 
No formal assessments carried out.  
 
 
 

 

Page 80



Due Regard Record 
 

This page shows which groups of people are affected by the subject of this report. It 
sets out how they are affected and how any unlawful discrimination they 
experience can be eliminated.  It also includes information about how access to the 
service(s) subject to this report can be improved for the different groups of people; 
and how they can be assisted to understand each other better as a result of the 
subject of this report.   
 
S149 Equality Act 2010 requires that due regard must be paid to this information 
when considering the subject of this report. 
 
  
The Framework will help partner agencies achieve the right balance in terms of 
service provision whilst recognising the particular characteristics of some 
organisations.  It will help guide appropriate provision to enable the community as a 
whole to remain active and healthy as possible, within our resources.      
 
 
 

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



1 | P a g e  
 

 
 

Voluntary and Community Sector Strategic 
Framework: 

Public and voluntary sectors working together to 
build resilient communities 

 
 
 
 

Our Vision 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Strong and resilient communities supported by a thriving voluntary and 
community sector. 

Page 83



2 | P a g e  
 

 
1. Overview 

 
What is the purpose of the Strategic Framework?  
This framework aims to support effective working relationships between the public and 
voluntary and community sectors. It builds on the work of the Compact but aims to go 
further in setting out a number of actions that will help us achieve our shared aim of 
strong and resilient communities supported by a thriving voluntary and community 
sector (VCS).  
The framework is being produced at a time when all organisations are facing acute 
financial challenges. Funding from central government will continue to fall while the cost 
of providing essential services and demand for these services is expected to go on 
rising. The need for resilient communities that can support themselves and the need for 
radical innovation in service design and delivery has never been greater.  The VCS can 
play a hugely important role in meeting these challenges. The sector already supports 
communities in areas as diverse as health and social care, the environment, sports and 
the arts and is an essential component of a strong and vibrant society. 
The public sector is increasingly adopting a commissioning approach to address needs 
and deliver services using public, private and VCS contractors. Commissioners, the 
VCS and the private sector need to learn how to operate effectively together in this new 
landscape.  In producing this framework it is recognised that one size will not fit all. The 
VCS in Essex is large and extremely diverse with an estimated 10,000 voluntary and 
community sector (VCS) organisations.  Equally the public service landscape in Essex 
is highly complex. There is one county council, twelve district councils, two unitary 
authorities, five clinical commissioning groups, police and fire services and, nearly 300 
parish councils.  
Public sector partners will normally work with the VCS through umbrella groups like the 
Essex Association of Councils for Voluntary Service and the Essex VCS Alliance, while 
recognising that these groups do not represent the whole sector. 
The opportunities for VCS partners to help shape the future of individuals and 
communities in Essex in partnership with the public sector are set out below, followed 
by examples of ways the public sector organisations can work with a vibrant and 
effective VCS and enable both sectors to develop the resilience of communities in 
Essex. 
 
 
 
 

Page 84



3 | P a g e  
 

 
2. The Strategic Framework 

 
The Framework represents a new approach for public sector partners in their 
relationship with the VCS. Public sector partners will be asked formally to sign up to the 
Framework through their own organisational governance mechanisms.  
The Essex Association of Councils for Voluntary Service, the Essex VCS Alliance and 
the Essex Compact Steering Group will be asked to sign up to the Framework as 
representatives of the diverse VCS sector, although individual VCS organisations may 
also wish to formally commit to the Framework. 
Section 4 sets out the opportunities for VCS partners to help shape the future of 
individuals and communities in Essex in partnership with the public sector.  
In signing up to this Framework public sectors partners will be agreeing to undertake an 
annual self-evaluation of their success in implementing the Framework. These 
evaluations will contribute to a “State of the Sector” report by The Compact Steering 
Group to the Essex Partnership Board and the Voluntary and Community Sector. 
 
 

3. The Framework 
 

3.1 Relationship with the Essex Compact 
This Framework builds on the suite of Compact Documents. This suite of documents 
provides the basis for effective procurement and grant giving. This Framework builds 
on the Compact but does not replace it.  Public sector partners adopting this Strategic 
Framework are also expected to adopt The Essex Compact and local compacts, and 
require their contractors to do so where appropriate. 
 

3.2 Independence of the VCS 
In adopting this Strategic Framework public sector partners will respect the 
independence of VCS organisations to determine their own aims and objectives.  
 

3.3 Commissioning 
Commissioning is a process that identifies the needs of the population in defined areas 
and develops strategies to allocate resources in the most appropriate and cost effective 
way to meet those needs; it encompasses procurement of services and the evaluation 
of the impact.  It is a cycle of activity that is described in detail in Appendix C. 
Increasingly public sector partners are adopting a commissioning led approach to 
improving outcomes for individuals, families and communities.   
 

Commissioners should: 
3.3.1 Draw up and adopt a consistent approach to commissioning throughout their 
organisation, which addresses the issues listed in this Strategic Framework.  

Page 85



4 | P a g e  
 

3.3.2 Engage with the VCS at all stages of the commissioning cycle so that the sector 
can shape the approach taken by commissioners including: analysing need, evaluating 
existing service provision, developing the strategic approach, and determining 
commissioning priorities.  
3.3.3 Ensure that there are good and clear lines of communication so that the VCS is 
clear, as early as possible, about opportunities and commissioning intentions. 
3.3.4 Gather and use the valuable information on need and the views of service users 
held by the VCS. 
3.3.5 Set out a clear approach to engagement and consultation. For example, will 
umbrella and representative groups from the VCS be engaged, or will engagement be 
with individual groups?  
3.3.6 State how they will communicate with and support the engagement of smaller, 
community based organisations. 
3.3.7 Consult in such a way that enables the VCS to propose new and radical changes 
in approach. 
3.3.8 Value the employment of local residents, use of volunteers, and partnership with 
local VCS organisations and aim to incorporate these factors in our commissioning 
strategies. 
The Commissioning Cycle is explained in Appendix C below. 
 
3.4. Procurement 
Each public sector partner should: 
 

3.4.1 Ensure that its approach to procurement enables VCS participation on a level 
playing field with the private and public sector and regularly ask the VCS and other 
sectors how they can make their procurement processes more accessible, making 
improvements wherever possible. 
3.4.2 Seek to provide longer-term funding arrangements, ideally for periods of between 
3-5 years. 
3.4.3 Adopting what we know works well while innovating in areas where outcomes 
must be improved. 
3.4.4 Explain the circumstances that will lead to extension of contracts, and give 
sufficient notice of the extension or cancellation of grant and contracts. 
3.4.5 Encourage the tenderers to employ local residents, use local volunteers, and 
develop sustainable partnerships with local VCS organisations wherever possible and 
appropriate .  
 

Page 86



5 | P a g e  
 

3.5 Joint commissioning 
Public sector partners should: 
 

3.5.1 Inform the public when they will be commissioning jointly and what the joint 
commissioning arrangements are as far as possible in advance 
3.5.2 Recognise the benefits of joint commissioning and, wherever possible, seek to 
collaborate with other public commissioning authorities. 
3.5.3 Align commissioning cycles with other public bodies to improve joint 
commissioning opportunities where possible.  
3.5.4 Where appropriate develop lead commissioner roles to simplify the commissioning 
process. 
 

3.6 Grant funding  
Public sector organisations should: 
3.6.1 Publish a clear statement about the principlesthat will guide their decision-making 
about when they will use grants rather than a formal procurement process. 
3.6.2 Give sufficient notice of grant funding opportunities which are to be  awarded 
through competition to allow VCS partners enough time to engage effectively and 
ensure a level playing field. 
3.6.3 Provide longer-term funding arrangements where possible, ideally for periods of 
between 3-5 years, with clear evaluation arrangements. 
3.6.4 Set out how they will encourage smaller, community based organisations to 
engage in grant programmes. 
3.6.5 Be as transparent as possible about funding arrangements, including any plans 
end grant programmes, and communicate this in a timely and honest way. 
 

3.7 A single point of contact 
3.7.1 Public sector organisations should identify and publicise single points of contact 
for each policy area and each procurement process. 
 
 

3.8 Social Value 
Public sector partners adopting the Framework should:  
3.8.1 Publish a clear statement setting out how they will apply The Public Services 
(Social Value) Act 2012. 
3.8.2 Include social value in procurement processes (including in pre-qualification 
questionnaire and award criteria) to value economic, social and environmental 

Page 87



6 | P a g e  
 

wellbeing.  This might include a statement setting out the impact of a tender proposal 
on the local VCS. 
3.8.3 Build social value into the commissioning cycle, noting that local authorities are 
required by law to consider social value prior to procuring a service. 
3.8.4 Be clear about how social value has been considered in decision making 
processes and demonstrate how the economic, social or environmental wellbeing of an 
area have been improved as a result of a procurement exercise. 
3.8.5 Consult the VCS to improve service specifications and better understand the 
contribution of social value.  
 

3.9 Strengthening the sector 
Public sector partners adopting this Strategic Framework should: 
3.9.1 State how VCS organisations will be encouraged and supported to work together, 
including developing consortia and supply chains. 
3.9.2 Recognise the challenges faced by smaller organisations and have a clear plan to 
support their engagement through, for example, CVS or other umbrella groups. 
3.9.3 Work with the VCS to build capacity and identify areas for market development to 
help VCS organisations to be ‘business ready’.  
 

3.10  Volunteering 
Public sector partners adopting this Strategic Framework should: 
3.10.1 Develop a strategy or policy approach to increase volunteering, including 
volunteering by their own employees. 
3.10.2 Work to reduce barriers to volunteering by consulting the VCS on relevant 
policies and providing support, including through grants, for organisations with 
volunteers.   
3.10.3 Value and publicly recognise the contribution of volunteers. 
3.10.4 Work with the VCS to ensure volunteering is open to everyone. 
3.10.5 Recognise that, while important, volunteering cannot fully replace the existing 
means for the provision of many services.” 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 88



7 | P a g e  
 

4. Opportunities for VCS partners to help shape the future of 
individuals and communities in Essex in partnership with the 
public sector  

 
In order to make this framework effective the VCS is asked to: 
4.1 Actively promote the adoption of the Framework and the Compact with their local 
public sector partners. 
4.2 Work positively and constructively with public sector partners to help them comply 
with this Framework and the Compact. 
4.3 Engage with commissioners in thinking radically about service re-design and 
delivery. 
4.4 Commit to keeping track of publicly available information about commissioning 
intentions of the public sector. 
4.5 Work in partnership with private sector and other VCS organisations. 
4.6 Seek to find ways to deliver improved outcomes, not just continue existing service 
provision. 
4.7 Assist the Compact Steering Group in the writing of the an annual ‘State of the 
Sector’ report for Essex Partnership Board, evaluating, on behalf of the sector, the 
progress in implementing this strategic framework and other key issues the sector 
wishes to raise.   
 

5. Next steps 
A commitment to working together to build capacity and resilience in our communities 
needs to be matched by mechanisms that ensure the effective delivery of the principles 
outlined in this document and a process by which success can measured and 
organisations held to account.  
To achieve this, public sector organisations should: 
5.1 Sign up to the framework and commit to delivering the principles outlined in this 
framework by 31 October 2014. 
5.2 Develop strategies, action plans, and/or joint commissioning plans to implement the 
framework from 1 April 2015 (or earlier).  
5.3 Submit an annual self-assessment report to the Essex Partnership Board by 1 April 
2016. 
5.4 Be as open and transparent as possible to allow VCS to hold them to account 
against the principles set out here. 

Page 89



8 | P a g e  
 

To achieve this, the voluntary sector, acting together, should: 
5.5 Actively promote the adoption of the Compact and the Framework with their local 
public sector partners. 
5.6 Work positively and constructively with public sector partners to help them comply 
with this Framework and the Compact, including areas for improvement. 

Page 90



9 | P a g e  
 

 
6. Appendices 

 
Overview of appendices 
Appendix A: Further reading  
Appendix B: Glossary of key terms 
Appendix C: Principles of good commissioning 
 
Appendix A: Further reading  
The following documents add to the context within which the Strategic Framework 
has been written. 

• Essex Compact including the Funding and Procurement Code of Practice 
• Southend-on-Sea Compact 
• Essex County Council – Supplying the Council  

 
There is also a range of national guidance and material on this subject which may be 
of help including: 

• Association of Chief Executives of Voluntary Organisations – Procurement 
and Commissioning Guidance and Support 

• Communities and Local Government, Making it easier for civil society to work 
with the state. 

building-social-value 
in the NHS.pdf  

There have been a number of studies that examine the importance of grants to VCS 
and the impact on individuals and communities. Two examples are: 
 

• http://www.navca.org.uk/publications/sustaininggrants 
• http://www.navca.org.uk/publications/localgrants 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 91



10 | P a g e  
 

 
Appendix B: Glossary of key terms 
Commissioning Commissioning is a cycle (see diagram below) that includes the 

process of identifying needs within the population and developing 
policy direction/service models and the market to meet those 
needs in the most appropriate and cost-effective way. 

Contracts A contract is a formal, legally enforceable agreement with another 
party by which each party commits to deliver something in return 
for something else - usually a service in return for payment.  

Grants A grant is an award of money given by an organisation (usually a 
public sector organisation or a grant-giving trust) to another 
organisation (usually a voluntary or community sector 
organisation) to support its work. The grant may partially or wholly 
support the work of the recipient organisation, or may be tied to a 
particular purpose such as running a project or delivering a 
service.  

Infrastructure 
organisation 

Civil society organisation whose main or only purpose is to 
support the work of other organisations in the voluntary and 
community sector.  

Joint 
Commissioning 

This is when two or more organisations work together and pool 
their resources to co-ordinate and implement a common strategy 
for commissioning services. An example of this could be the 
health and social care commissioning a place to meet a child’s 
holistic needs. 

Outcomes The benefits or other effects that are realised as a result of 
services and activities provided by an organisation. Outcomes can 
be defined in advance of a project and measured to demonstrate 
the success of the activity. 

Procurement Procurement is a specific part of the commissioning cycle. It 
focuses on the process of buying services or goods from initial 
advertising though to appropriate contract or grant arrangements. 
The rules and process will be dependent upon the value and 
nature of the contract.  
 
Further details about each organisations approach to procurement 
can be found on the Organisations’ Website  

Payment by 
Results 

Payments are made in return for outcomes delivered. 
Social Value Under the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012, all public 

bodies in England and Wales are required to consider how the 
services they commission and procure might improve the 
economic, social and environmental well-being of the area. 
 
This means that whilst value for money will be secured this will be 
considered alongside other benefits. Social value asks e question: 
‘If £1 is spent on the delivery of services, can that same £1 be 
used, to also produce a wider benefit to the community?’ 

Page 92



11 | P a g e  
 

 
 
Appendix C: Principles of good commissioning 
The National Audit Office outlines eight key principles for effective commissioning1: 

i. Understanding the needs of users and other communities by ensuring that, 
alongside other consultees, you engage with the third sector organisations, as 
advocates, to access their specialist knowledge; 

ii. Consulting potential provider organisations, including those from the third 
sector and local experts, well in advance of commissioning new services, 
working with them to set priority outcomes for that service;  

iii. Putting outcomes for users at the heart of the strategic planning process;   
iv. Mapping the fullest practical range of providers with a view to understanding 

the contribution that could make to delivering those outcomes;  
v. Considering investing in the capacity of the provider base, particularly those 

working with hard-to-reach groups; 
vi. Ensuring contracting processes are transparent and fair, facilitating the 

involvement of the broadest range of suppliers, including considering sub-
contracting and consortia building, where appropriate;   

vii. Seeking feedback from service users, communities and providers in order to 
review the effectiveness of the commissioning process in meeting local 
needs.  

  
The following diagram illustrates the commissioning cycle. Further details about our 
commitments as part of this process and those that we would expect to see from the 
voluntary and community sector are set out later in this document. 

 
                                                           
1 Source: National Audit Office; 
http://www.nao.org.uk/successful-commissioning/successful-commissioning-home/general-
principles/principles-of-good-commissioning/ 
 

Page 93



12 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
Expectations and commitments of the commissioning process: 
 
Analyse 
Engagement with service users and their support structures such as family and 
carers is more likely to result in appropriate and effective services, ensuring that they 
meet the requirements of communities that are supposed to benefit. 
 
The VCS holds a wealth of local knowledge and can play a key role in engaging with 
service users and representing their views.   Voluntary and community sector 
organisations across Essex can provide a valuable link to service users and 
communities that are often the most vulnerable and hard to reach. 
 
Not all voluntary and community sector organisations in Essex receive public funding 
or would wish to directly deliver services on behalf of public services. However, we 
recognise that they have an important role to play in shaping and reviewing policies 
by representing the views of users and communities.  
 
 
 
Plan 
During this stage, work takes place to identify current providers and design how the 
need will be met. 
 
This stage allows commissioners to secure the most appropriate provider to deliver 
those outcomes identified during the assessing need stage.  
 
Involvement with the voluntary and community sector at this stage can help facilitate 
a culture of trust and partnership with the public sector and enables the sharing of 
knowledge and experience in planning services.  
 
A broad pool of suppliers which includes a thriving VCS will mean greater 
opportunity to find the right provider and achieve the right service at the right price. 
 
In some instances commissioners will need to consider whether the market is ready 
to support the service outcomes identified and work may be necessary to develop 
the market offer.  
 
 

 
Do 
Having identified the need for service development and understood the capacity of 
the market, commissioners will need to design the service.  
 
Choosing the most appropriate provider to deliver the required outcomes is vital. It 
will mean that individuals and local communities receive the most appropriate 
services with the greatest impact. During this stage they will take account of factors 

Page 94



13 | P a g e  
 

including: 
� Funding availability and sustainability 
� Good practice and policy guidance 
� Learning from pilot/pathfinder experience 
� Service user experience and aspirations 
� Clarity of desired outcomes. 

 
Increasingly services will be driven by the personalisation agenda, leaving individual 
service users/customers to specify the nature of the service they require. Particular 
services such as early intervention/prevention services may not be subject to 
personalisation. 
 
 
 
Review 
Having designed and secured the service to meet the initial need identified it is 
crucial to have a programme of evaluation - considering what is being done against 
what was planned. This will include the quality of the services being provided and the 
outcomes that this service is resulting in. Being aware of the initial needs identified 
and whether or not these have changed is also key.   
 
Actively encouraging the involvement of service users and providers can provide 
valuable insight 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	8 Proposed Affordable Housing Development - Vere Road, Loughton
	9 Leisure and Cultural Strategy
	C-040 Leisure Strategy App I

	10 Council Tax and Local Council Tax Support Compliance
	11 Pooling of Non Domestic Rates
	C-037 NDR Pooling DRF

	12 Essex Voluntary and Community Sector Framework
	C-041 Essex Voluntary-Community Sector Framework App I


